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HONORABLE MAYOR and CITY COUNCIL

THE COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
REPORT OF THE CITY OF SAN JOSE

We are pleased to present the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”) of the City of San José
(“City”) for the fiscal year July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018 as required by Sections 805(a) and 1215 of
the City Charter. Although submitted to the Mayor and City Council (“Council”) for consideration, the CAFR
is also intended to provide relevant financial information to the residents of San José, taxpayers, creditors,
investors, and other interested parties.

This letter of transmittal provides a non-technical summary of City finances, services, achievements, and
economic prospects. We ask that readers who wish a more detailed discussion of the City’s financial results
refer to Management's Discussion & Analysis contained in the Financial Section of the CAFR.

The City Administration is responsible for the accuracy of the information contained in this report, the
adequacy of its disclosures, and the fairness of its presentation. We believe this CAFR to be complete and
reliable in all material respects. To provide a reasonable basis for making this representation, we have
established a comprehensive system of internal controls designed to protect City assets from loss, to
identify and record transactions accurately, and to compile the information necessary to produce financial
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

The City contracted with Macias Gini & O’Connell LLP, a firm of Certified Public Accountants licensed to
practice in the State of California, to perform the annual independent audit. The auditors expressed an
opinion that the City’s financial statements for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 are fairly stated in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. This is the most favorable conclusion and is
commonly known as an “unmodified” or “clean” opinion. The independent auditor's report is included in the

Financial Section of this report.

In addition, Macias Gini & O'Connell LLP has also performed an audit of the City’'s major program
expenditures of federal funds for compliance with the requirements described in the U.S. Office of
Management and Budget's OMB Compliance Supplement, and the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. The
report of the Single Audit is published separately from this CAFR, and when completed, may be obtained
upon request from the City’s Department of Finance.

200 East Santa Clara Street San José, CA 95113 ¢l (408) 535-8100 fax (408) 920-7007 www.sanjoseca.gov

&
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Letter of Transmittal (Continued)

This CAFR is organized into three sections:

e The Introductory Section is intended to familiarize the reader with the organizational
structure of the City, the nature and scope of City services, and specifics of the City’s legal
operating environment.

e The Financial Section includes Management’s Discussion & Analysis, Basic Financial
Statements, Notes to Basic Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information,
and other Supplemental Information. The Basic Financial Statements include the
government-wide financial statements that present an overview of the City’s entire financial
operations and the fund financial statements that present financial information for each of
the City’s major funds, governmental funds, as well as proprietary funds, internal service
funds, and fiduciary funds. This section also contains the independent auditor’s report on
the Basic Financial Statements.

o The Statistical Section presents up to ten years of detailed statistical data on the City’s
financial trends, revenue capacity, debt capacity, demographic and economic information,
and operating information as a context to the information presented in the financial
statements and note disclosures.

REPORTING ENTITY

San José is a charter city that has operated under a council-manager form of government since 1916.
Under the City Charter, the Mayor and Council form the legislative body that represents the community and
is empowered to formulate citywide policy. The Council consists of a Mayor and ten Council members. The
Mayor is elected at large for a four-year term and the Council members are elected by district for staggered
four-year terms. The Mayor and Council members are limited to two consecutive four-year terms. Under
the Charter, the Mayor recommends policy, program, and budget priorities to the Council, which in turn
approves policy direction for the City. The City Manager is appointed by the Council and serves as the chief
administrative officer of the organization responsible for the administration of City affairs, day-to-day
operations, and implementation of Council policies. In addition to the City Manager, the City Attorney, City
Clerk, City Auditor, and Independent Police Auditor are appointed by and report directly to the Council.

The City Charter provides that the boards of administration for each of the City’s retirement plans, the
Federated City Employees’ Retirement System and the Police and Fire Department Retirement Plan, hire
and prescribe the duties of the chief executive officer and chief investment officer within the Office of
Retirement Services who serve at the pleasure of the retirement boards. The City Charter also specifies
certain duties and obligations of each retirement board and authorizes the chief executive officer to hire
and oversee the Office of Retirement Services’ employees, subject to any applicable Civil Service Rules.

The City provides a range of municipal services, including police and fire protection, sanitation services,
environmental management, maintenance of streets and infrastructure, and the administration of library
services, recreational activities, and cultural facilities. The City operates a parking program, a municipal
water system, a wastewater treatment facility, the Mineta San José International Airport, and three
municipal golf courses. In addition, the City provides an oversight in the management of convention, cultural
event and hospitality facilities that include the San José McEnery Convention Center, Center for the
Performing Arts, California Theatre, Mexican Heritage Plaza, Ice Centre, Dolce Hayes Mansion and
Conference Center, and the SAP Center at San José — home of the San José Sharks of the National Hockey
League.
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The City organization is structured into six City Service Areas (“CSAs”) that integrate services provided by
separate departments and offices into key alignments from the community’s perspective. The CSAs are:

e Community and Economic Development. The goal of the Community and Economic
Development CSA is to develop and strengthen the community’s economy, nurture a safe,
attractive, and vital community; and encourage a broad range of housing options.

o Environmental and Utility Services: The Environmental and Utility Services CSA encompasses
a range of services and projects related to waste and recycling management; water supply
management including administering clean drinking water, recycled water, watershed protection,
and wastewater treatment; and energy initiatives to protect the environment and quality of life in
the community.

o Neighborhood Services: The goal of the Neighborhood Services CSA is to provide services to
residents and neighborhoods with the common goal of fostering healthy, vibrant, engaged, and
secure neighborhoods. These connections build capable communities and the quality of life that
make San José a desirable place to live. This means that residents have access to nearby parks,
trails, sports fields, community centers, libraries, and a diverse range of recreational and learning
opportunities.

e Public Safety: The goal of the Public Safety CSA is to maintain the safety of the residents
throughout the City by keeping crimes rates down, reducing and investigating crimes, continuing to
attract businesses, and maintaining a vibrant, safe community for residents. Although Police and
Fire services constitute the bulk of City’s investment in public safety, other departments and
programs also contribute to the safety of the community.

e Transportation and Aviation Services: The Transportation and Aviation Services CSA supports
the planning, development, and operation of efficient transportation services that serve the people
and economy of San José and Silicon Valley. Transportation and aviation infrastructure and
services provide an important resource to support the community’s livability and economy, along
with the City’s economic development efforts.

e Strategic Support: The overall ability of the City to provide quality and effective services depends
on strategic support services, such as finance, human resources, information technology, and
public works, to ensure consistency and efficiency throughout all City departments.

San José is the oldest city in California, developing from a Spanish pueblo established in 1777. Situated
between the Diablo and Santa Cruz mountain ranges, San José encompasses approximately 181 square
miles at the south end of the San Francisco Bay and is the county seat of Santa Clara County. San José’s
central location between San Francisco to the north and Monterey/Carmel to the south makes the “Capital
of Silicon Valley” a gateway to adventures throughout California. With 2018 estimated population of
1,051,316, it is the third most populous city in California and the tenth most populous in the United States.

The City has transformed dramatically from the rich agricultural setting of its early years into the largest city
in the Silicon Valley. Silicon Valley is a region in the Southern San Francisco Bay Area of Northern
California which serves as a global center of high technology, innovation, and social media. It corresponds
roughly to the geographical Santa Clara Valley. The San José-Sunnyvale-Santa Clara Metropolitan
Statistical Area (“MSA”) in the Silicon Valley has a large concentration of high-tech employment with
326,100 workers out of a total civilian employment level of 1.14 million.? Silicon Valley is home to many of

! State of California, Department of Finance, E-1 Population Estimates for Cities, Counties, and State with Annual Percentage
Change — January 1, 2017 and 2018 (Released May 2018).
2State of California, Employment Development Department, Labor Market Information Division, June 2018.
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the world’s largest technology companies and is a global center of technology innovation. Commercial,
retail, professional, high-tech manufacturing, electronic assembly, and service businesses all have a
presence in San José. On the international front, San José attracts significant foreign investment from
throughout the globe.

Service providers account for approximately 84 percent? of the employment in the San José-MSA with the
majority of employment related to professional and business services, education and health services,
information technology, government, and retail. In addition, durable goods manufacturing, primarily
computer equipment, semiconductor components, and electronic instruments, account for approximately
16 percent? of the MSA employment.

The CAFR includes all funds of the City, as well as all governmental organizations and activities for which
the Council has financial accountability. These organizations include the San José-Santa Clara Clean
Water Financing Authority, the City of San José Financing Authority, and the Successor Agency to the
Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José.

ECONOMIC CONDITION and FISCAL OUTLOOK

The local, regional and state economies are all performing well. According to a study in September 2017
by the Center for Continuing Study of California Economy (CCSCE), the Nine-County Bay Area Region’
led the State and nation with real (inflation adjusted) Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth of 5.2 percent
in 2016, more than 3 times faster than the national growth rate. During the same period the San Jose MSA
led the state with a GDP increase of 5.9 percent with the San Francisco-Oakland-Hayward MSA coming in
second with a 5.4 percent. According to a U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis’ report in September 2018,
the San Jose MSA’s GDP grew by 8.4 percent in 2017. The state and local economies continue to have a
diverse and favorable mix of businesses. Combined with a favorable location (Pacific Rim), both are well
positioned to benefit from future national growth. With low unemployment and the Silicon Valley
geographically well positioned, San José has been at the epicenter of growth that presents both
opportunities and challenges. The Bay Area continues to face the challenges of housing and transportation
which will be impediments to growth.

For June 2018, the San Jose MSA civilian employment level was 1.14 million, which was 3 percent higher
than the June 2017 level of 1.11 million?. This represents nine consecutive years of sustained growth from
June to June. Between June 2017 and June 2018, employment in the San Jose MSA expanded by 38,000
jobs. This growth included an increase of 8,800 jobs in the information sector, which signifies the 101t
consecutive month of year-over-year increases. The unemployment rates at the local, state, and national
levels have continued to decline compared to prior year and remain at very low levels. In June 2018, the
unemployment rate of 3.0 percent for the San Jose MSA was below the 3.4 percent experienced in June
2017. The San Jose MSA’s June 2018 unemployment rate continued to be lower than the unadjusted
unemployment for the State (4.5 percent) and the nation (4.2 percent).

Construction valuation in San Jose’ was strong in 2017-2018 at $1.7 billion, but decreased from a record
setting level of $1.9 billion reached in 2016-2017. The number of new residential dwelling unit permits
issued in 2017-2018 totaled 3,241. Construction activity in the residential category was higher than prior
year level, while commercial and industrial activity declined. Private construction activity is a driver for
several development related taxes and fees and is an indicator of future activity for several other categories,
such as storm and sanitary sewer system fees.

‘Includes counties of Santa Clara, San Mateo, San Francisco, Alameda, Contra Costa, Marin, Sonoma, Napa, and Solano,
2State of California, Employment Development Department, Labor Market Information Division, June 2018.

iv
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The local real estate market continues to experience strong growth in home prices compared to prior year
levels. The median single-family home price in June 2018 of $1.23 million is up 23.0 percent from the June
2017 median price of $996,000. In addition to increase in median home price, average days-on-market for
single-family and multi-family dwellings has decreased from 18 days in June 2017 to 15 days in June 2018.
Also of interest is the continued tightening of the inventory available in the housing market. The average
number of new listings per month in 2017-2018 totaled 704,which is 6.0 percent below the average number
of new listings recorded in prior fiscal year. While the median home price has risen and the average days-
on-the market has decreased, the number of property transfers (sales) has continued to decline. The
number of residential property transfers in 2017-2018 totaled 7,513, which represents a 4.7 percent decline
from the 7,883 transfers that occurred in 2016-2017. The decrease in the number of property sales
compared to prior year levels is primarily attributable to the limited inventory available on the housing
market.

When the 2017-2018 Adopted Budget was developed, economic growth was expected to continue
throughout the year. The assumption has proven true, with continued improvement in economic
indicators and actual revenue performance during 2017-2018. Total revenues in the General Fund were
$978.8 million which represent an increase of 8.6 percent from the 2016-2017 collection levels of
$901.1 million. The categories that experienced the largest percentage increases included: Business
Tax, Property Tax, Revenue from Local Agencies, Sales Tax, Transient Occupancy Tax, other revenue
categories. With the local economy’s sustained growth over the past several years and expenditures
being closely forecasted and monitored, the City’s budget remained stable. Accordingly, the 2017-2018
Adopted Budget maintained existing service levels while also providing limited enhancements to service
delivery in priority areas and providing some investments in City infrastructure. The financial results of
2017-2018 will also be factored into the development of the 2020-2024 General Fund Five-Year Financial
Forecast which is scheduled for release in February 2019.

In November 2016, the voters approved the Alternative Pension Reform Act, known as Measure F, that
City Council placed on the ballot as a result of settlement frameworks entered with the City’s bargaining
groups resulting from litigation and other proceedings related to Measure B, the pension measure approved
by San José voters in June 2012. In February and May 2017, the City Council adopted ordinances to
implement the terms of the settlement frameworks and Measure F. The ordinances amended various
sections of the San Jose Municipal Code related to the Police and Fire Department Retirement Plan and
the Federated City Employees Retirement System and provided for the Voluntary Employees’ Beneficiary
Association (“VEBA”), a defined contribution healthcare benefit for retirees. These amendments to the
Municipal Code were enacted to implement the terms of the settlement frameworks and Measure F. The
terms of both retirement plans in place as of June 30, 2018 are described in Note IV.A. to the basic financial
statements.

In October 2017, to address various implementation issues, the City Council and the bargaining units
entered into side letters and the City Council approved ordinances further amending the terms of both
retirement plans and the VEBA provisions. The City also implemented the VEBA opt-in process for eligible
employees currently in the defined benefit healthcare plans provided by the retirement plans. These
employees were provided a one-time irrevocable opportunity to voluntarily opt into the VEBA or stay in the
defined benefit retiree healthcare plan. For the employees who elected to participate in the VEBA, their
previous employee retiree healthcare contributions (without interest) were placed into an individual VEBA
account. This election period ended on December 15, 2017 and received approval from the Internal
Revenue Service.

In May 2017, the San José City Council voted unanimously to establish the San José Clean Energy (SJCE),
the City of San José's Community Choice Energy (CCE) program. CCEs allow governments to procure
electricity for their businesses and residents. With the formation of SUCE, San José is now the largest single
public agency to operate a CCE. SJCE launched in September 2018 for the City electric accounts and
launch is expected in February 2019 for San José residents and businesses. SJCE will provide the same
electricity service that customers have now, but with more renewable energy options at competitive rates.

\"
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On December 21, 2017, the Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José (the
“Successor Agency”) closed on the issuance of Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds in the aggregate principal
amount $1,677,540,000 (the “Bonds”). The Bonds refunded all 25 series of outstanding obligations of the
former Agency’s tax allocation bonds and reimbursement obligations related to the Series 2001A and Series
2001F Bonds issued by the City of San Jose Financing Authority (Refunded Obligations). The restructuring
of Refunded Obligations is anticipated to achieve various financial benefits for the Successor Agency such
as: place it into a “sufficiency of funds” situation; achieve aggregate debt service savings due to lower
interest rates on the Bonds and improved credit quality of the Former Agency; eliminations of potential debt
service spikes with respect to outstanding variable tax allocations bonds; and a simplified administration of
the Refunded Obligations.

In addition, the refunding improved the distribution of residual Redevelopment Property Tax Trust Fund
(RPTTF) revenues to the taxing agencies including the City, with $66.7 million flowing to taxing agencies
from the June 1, 2018 RPTTF distribution, and an estimated $45.0 million flowing to the taxing entities from
the January 2, 2019 RPTTF distribution. The refunding provides for greater flexibility in the operation and
ownership of certain City assets (Civic Auditorium, Convention Center, 4" & San Fernando Street Parking
Garage, Hammer Theater, and the Mexican Heritage Plaza,) with the refunding of tax-exempt bonds
originally issued to fund these projects with taxable bonds.

The City is expected to see a major transformation over the next decade with the largest regional
transportation projects in the City’s history that can fundamentally change the way our residents move
around the City which include: next phase of the Airport expansion, the implementation of San Jose Clean
Energy, the major rehabilitation of the Water Pollution Control Plant, improvement in broadband and other
digital connections, the transformation of the Downtown, and the creation of housing. To focus on these
interdepartmental efforts which will span over multiple years, the Administration identified eight enterprise
priorities that align key elements of Council priorities and department work plans, including: Emergency
Management and Preparedness; Creating Housing and Preventing Homelessness; Safe, Vibrant, and
Inclusive Neighborhoods and Public life; The Future of Downtown; Building the San Jose’ of Tomorrow —
Private Development Services; Smart, Sustainable and Reliable City; 215t Century Infrastructure; Strategic
Fiscal Positioning and Resource Deployment; and Powered by People.

The 2018-2019 Adopted Budget includes investments across multiple funds that support these long-term,
major initiatives. These initiatives are also in alignment with the investment priorities identified in the
Mayor’'s March Budget Message for 2018-2019, as approved by the City Council:

Homelessness and Housing

Public Safety and Disaster Preparedness
Environment

Innovation and Technology

Education and Our Youth

Community Engagement

Saving and Improving Fiscal Sustainability

The Adopted Operating Budget incorporates budget actions to focus on these investments priorities with
funding identified to address the direction in the Mayor’'s March and June Budget Messages.

The City Council adopted a balanced 2018-2019 Budget on June 19, 2018. This marks the seventh
consecutive year that the operating budget did not include significant reductions in services, staffing, and
compensation to achieve a balanced budget. Given the availability of one-time funding and the modest
funding made available, the Adopted 2018-2019 Budget follows City Council direction to focus on targeted,
strategic spending as well as savings for the future. The budget takes a multi-year approach with one-time
funding set aside in 2018-2019 to address the projected General Fund shortfall in 2019-2020. The Adopted
Budget also maintains existing service levels, enhances service delivery in limited areas, and invests in

vi
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infrastructure and technology. With limited resources, it is imperative that the City continues to innovate
and leverage resources to achieve its service delivery goals.

The City’s current general obligation credit ratings are Aa1/AA+/AA+ from Moody’s Investors Service,
Standard & Poor's, and Fitch, respectively. These credit ratings have remained the same from the prior
year and the City continues to be one of the highest rated large cities (with population over 250,000) in
California and the second highest among the nation’s ten largest cities. The ratings continue to reflect the
diversity of the local economy anchored by a strong technology presence, sound financial management,
and prudent budgetary practices.

SIGNIFICANT COMMUNITY EVENTS and SERVICE DELIVERY ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Examples of significant community events and service delivery accomplishments for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2018, included the following:

% Mineta San José International Airport (SJC) marked a milestone in February 2018 with a 20.8 percent
increase in passengers served year-over-year. For the first time, SJC recorded a year-over-year
increase in passengers above 20 percent, while also marking 62 consecutive months of growth. SJC
served 12.8 million passengers over the past 12 months (March 2017-February 2018). Passenger
growth is expected to continue with new route launches through the fall of 2018. As of June 2018, the
Airport served 13.5 million passengers during the prior twelve-month period.

« The Environmental Services Department reports 461 projects financed through Property Assessed
Clean Energy (PACE) were completed in 2017-2018. Over its lifetime these energy- and water-efficient
projects will save an estimated 73.6 million kilowatt hours of energy and 43.3 million gallons of water,
and 61,722 metric tons of carbon dioxide emissions. PACE exists in hundreds of communities in the
United States, enabling property owners to finance water- and energy-saving upgrades. These efforts
support the goals of Climate Smart San José, a plan to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and ensure
a long-term water supply.

% The grand opening of Lake Cunningham Action Sports Park (LCASP) on April 14, 2018 drew thousands
of bike riders, testing the most diverse riding features of any bike park in the nation. Mountain and BMX
bike riders of all skill levels joined Mayor Liccardo and Councilmember Arenas in officially opening the
much anticipated bike park at LCASP. The $2.2 million bike park is an addition to the existing 68,000
square foot Lake Cunningham Skate Park, which is largest skate park in California. Featuring the
world's largest cradle and full pipe and the tallest vertical wall, the park attracts 8,600 skaters annually
from all over the country, including professional skaters. LCASP amenities include: five bicycle and
skateboard repair stations; shaded patio with heaters and fans; free Wi-Fi; a park-wide sound system;
shaded picnic areas; and a water misting system.

« Forthe second yearin a row, the San José Public Library’s Marketing and Communications Department
won the John Cotton Dana Public Relations Award from the American Library Association. The San
José Public Library (SJPL) is the only Bay Area library to win the award and is one of only two library
systems in the state of California to be honored for excellence in library public relations. The American
Library Association selected SJPL for its 2-Step Fine Forgiveness program — a multilingual campaign
that included a unique approach that reached well over 800,000 people through social media,
community outreach and news media coverage. In just 31 days, nearly half of all the overdue materials
were returned, over 12,000 people participated, and a total of $63,847 in late fees were waived,
restoring account access to thousands. The winners were celebrated at a reception during American
Library Association’s 2018 annual conference.

7
*

% The City is the beneficiary of three grants totaling $1.5 million from the Priority Development Area
Planning Program of the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC). The City’s Department of
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Transportation (DOT) is the recipient of an $800,000 grant for the Diridon Station Plan. This grant
supports the development of the Diridon Integrated Station Concept Plan, which will explore seamless
connections between different services; ensure the station design complements the surrounding
neighborhoods; and propose an organizational framework to bring stakeholders together with an
interest in the station’s development. The Planning Division, within the Department of Planning, Building
& Code Enforcement is the recipient of a $500,000 grant for the preparation of two Urban Village plans
for Southwest Expressway and the Race Street Light Rail areas, both along the Vasona Light Rail
Corridor. The second grant for the Planning Division, worth $200,000, consists of in-kind consulting
services provided at no cost to the City by consultants under contract with MTC for the update to the
citywide residential and commercial urban design guidelines.

« The Department of Planning, Building and Code Enforcement (PBCE) garnered two prestigious awards
during the fiscal year. In October 2017, the International Code Council chose PBCE as a recipient of
its “Community Service Award” and, in March 2018, the statewide association of California Building
Officials named PBCE as “Building Department of the Year.” Both awards noted PBCE’s innovative
programs: a trilingual Small Business Ally team that helped small business owners succeed with
permits; a multi-agency Streamlined Restaurant Program that shaved weeks off the permit process for
restaurants; an Over-the-Counter service that enabled homeowners to obtain a same-day permit for
smaller projects; a cost-and-time-saving combination inspection program for multifamily buildings; a
Special Tenant Improvement program that enabled commercial customers to have a single meeting
with interdepartmental plan review staff; and an outreach program that promoted building careers with
high school and college students.

FIVE-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM

The City publishes a five-year Capital Improvement Program (“CIP”) that guides the City in the planning,
scheduling, and budgeting of capital improvement projects. The CIP is updated annually and approved by
the City Council. The CIP maintains critical investment to sustain, enhance, and develop a wide array of
public infrastructure to improve system reliability, enhance recreational experience, advance public safety,
and ensure that San José is well-positioned for further economic growth and opportunity while building on
the efforts of the last several years of making targeted investments that align with the City’s economic
development and community livability goals contained within the Envision San José 2040 General Plan.

The City’s 2018-2019 Adopted Capital Budget totals $988.0 million and the 2019-2023 Adopted CIP totals
$3.3 billion. The 2018-2019 Adopted Capital Budget reflects a 1.5 percent decrease from the 2017-2018
Adopted Capital Budget of $1.0 billion and, from a five-year perspective, the 2019-2023 Adopted CIP is
equal to the $3.3 billion 2018-2022 Adopted CIP. The 2019-2023 Adopted CIP allocates significant
resources to upgrade and revitalize the Water Pollution Control Plant (San José-Santa Clara Regional
Wastewater Facility or “‘RWF”); continues the investment in the pavement maintenance program; invests in
and sets aside funding for the rehabilitation and enhancement of a variety of park assets and recreational
facilities; and continues the renovation of the City’s outstanding culture facilities. Grant resources are
leveraged to implement projects throughout the CIP, including Airport projects, local multimodal
transportation projects, and regional projects, including BART Phase Il, High Speed Rail, and the Diridon
Station. In addition, investments in Adopted 2019-2023 CIP address emergency preparedness and flood
related needs, such as parks infrastructure repairs and flood protection improvements.

Key components of the 2019-2023 Adopted Capital Improvement Program include:

o Water Pollution Control Capital Program is the largest capital program accounting for 42 percent of
the 2019-2023 CIP with a total of $1.38 billion, of which $174.7 million is budgeted in 2018-2019,
and is directed to renovate and upgrade the RWF infrastructure to ensure capacity and reliability
of treatment plant processes.

o Traffic Capital Improvement Program is the second largest program accounting for 19 percent of
the 2019-2023 Adopted CIP with a budget of $628.9 million, of which $239.0 million is budgeted in
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2018-2019. The 2019-2023 Adopted CIP includes continued investment in street and pedestrian
safety, pavement maintenance, traffic management, and local multimodal improvements,
supporting the use of all modes of travel and placing emphasis on the safe travel of pedestrians,
bicyclists, and transit users. The Traffic CIP includes $319.7 million for maintenance activities, of
which $314.2 million is earmarked for pavement maintenance.

Airport Capital Program for fiscal years 2019-2023 totals $411.6 million, of which $147.0 million is
budgeted in 2018-2019. The CIP includes projects reflecting the Airport’s strategic priorities to
drive and accommodate growth, innovate, fund the future, and reinvent the organization. After the
successful completion of several large Airport Master Plan projects, the 2019-2023 Adopted CIP
focuses on the maintenance and preservation of Airport infrastructure, security enhancement, and
technology improvement to provide a favorable environment for sustained growth. Major CIP
projects such as Interim Terminal Facility, Airfield Geometric Implementation, Terminal B Ramp
Rehabilitation, and Aircraft Rescue and Fire Fighting Facility are all examples of the implementation
of the Airport’s strategic priorities and Master Plan.

Parks, and Community Facilities Development Capital Program in the 2019-2023 Adopted CIP
provides funding of $342.1 million, of which $196.6 million is budgeted in 2018-2019. A major focus
of the CIP program is the delivery of projects that rehabilitate City parks and recreation facilities
damaged by January and February 2017 storm events and floods. The 2019-2023 Adopted CIP
also provides resources to operate and maintain existing and newly constructed parks and
recreational facilities and continue long-term capital investment plans.

Sanitary Sewer System Capital Program in the 2019-2023 Adopted CIP provides funding of $191.2
million, of which $51.2 million is allocated in 2018-2019. The program’s funding is used to enhance
sewer capacity for continued development and to rehabilitate existing sewers. Program funding is
supported by the Sewer Service and Use Charge Fees, Sanitary Sewer Connection Fees, and
“Joint Participation” contributions from other jurisdictions served by the Sanitary Sewer System for
the use of San José sewer lines.

The Sanitary Sewer System CIP is guided by several interrelated plans, and chief among them is
the Envision San José 2040 General Plan (General Plan). The General Plan provides a guide for
all capital improvement programs to align public infrastructure investment with San José’s plans for
future growth. The projects included in the Sanitary Sewer System CIP ensure adequate sewer
capacity and reliability to safely convey sewage city-wide, as well as within those areas designated
for future development. The land uses and growth included in the General Plan were also used in
the development of the Sanitary Sewer Master Plan that was completed in 2013. The Master Plan
helped identify and address trunk sewer capacity deficiencies in the existing system and forecast
additional capacity-enhancing projects required to meet future demands in the context of the
General Plan. As identified in the Status Report on Deferred Maintenance and Infrastructure
Backlog accepted by City Council on March 6, 2018, the Sanitary Sewer Collection System has
estimated unfunded needs of approximately $1.5 million per year; however, the current backlog of
the Sanitary Sewer Collection System is undergoing further evaluation. With this remaining
backlog, the City will continue to evaluate staffing levels and resources and overall strategic capital
improvement priorities at both the RWF and the sanitary collection system to address the remaining
unfunded needs in the future.

Library Capital Program for fiscal years 2019-2023 plans funding of $56.4 million, of which $24.2
million is allocated in 2018-2019. The objective of the Library’s CIP is to provide readily accessible,
quality library services to San José residents. Program funding is derived primarily from Library
Construction and Conveyance Tax, voter-approved Library Parcel Tax (LPT), and bond proceeds
in the Branch Libraries Bond Projects Fund.

Storm Sewer System Capital Program for fiscal years 2019-2023 provides funding of $35.7 million,
of which $17.1 million is budgeted in 2018-2019. The primary objective of the Storm Sewer Capital
iX
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Program is to plan and construct improvements to the storm sewer collection system that reduce
the risk of flooding and prevent property damage while managing the quality of storm water runoff.
Funding for the program is provided by the Storm Sewer Operating Fund, California Proposition 84
Grants, and Storm Sewer Connection Fees.

e Public Safety Capital Program for fiscal years 2019-2023 plans funding of $51.6 million, of which
$24.3 million is budgeted in 2018-2019. Most of the Public Safety Bond Projects for the Police and
the Fire Departments funded by the Neighborhood Security Act Bond Measure have been
completed. However, there is insufficient bond funding to complete the last project, Fire Station 37.
The construction of this project, therefore, is deferred until the funding strategy is developed and
approved by the City Council. The focus of the program remains on the rehabilitation of existing
fire stations and the replacement for Fire Department emergency apparatus and related equipment.

Even with strong emphasis placed on rehabilitation and renewal, the City continues to lack the resources
required to fully maintain its existing infrastructure portfolio. The persistent gap between optimal levels of
capital investment and available resources, including grants and revenues from other agencies, results in
a growing backlog of deferred and unmet infrastructure needs. The Status Report on Deferred Infrastructure
Maintenance Backlog, accepted by the City Council on March 16, 2018, identifies a $1.39 billion backlog
of deferred and unmet infrastructure needs with an ongoing investment need of approximately $112 million
annually to maintain and prevent further degradation of the City’s infrastructure. These figures reflect an
improvement from the $1.51 billion one-time backlog and $144.0 million ongoing funding needs reported in
March 2017, due primarily to the reevaluation of the City’s pavement condition; however, transportation
infrastructure continues to be the largest unfunded need.

It is largely because of this gap between available funding and public infrastructure investment needs that
the Mayor's March Budget Message for Fiscal Year 2018-2019 directed the administration to explore a
potential bond measure to provide a new and substantial infusion of capital spending. After a review of
potential options, the City Council approved resolutions which called for the submission to the electors of
the City of San Jose’ in the next general election held on November 6, 2018 consideration of two ballot
measures.

MEASURE T. Disaster Preparedness, Public Safety, and Infrastructure Bond — a ballot measure proposal
calling for the issuance of $650 million General Obligations Bonds for the acquisition, construction, and
completion of certain municipal improvements.

MEASURE V. Affordable Housing Bond — A ballot measure proposal calling for the issuance of $450 million
General Obligation Bonds for the acquisition, construction, and completion of affordable housing in the City.

Under State law, the Santa Clara County Registrar of Voters must complete the canvass of the vote and
certify and submit the election results to the County Board of Supervisors by December 6, 2018. As of the
date of this document, the Santa Clara County Registrar of Voters has not completed the ballot counting
for Measures T and V. From the ballots counted to date, the votes cast in favor of Measure T exceed the
two-thirds margin for approval and the votes cast in favor of Measure V are less than the required two-
thirds margin.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The City’s Administration is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls that safeguard
the City’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse, and allow the compilation of adequate accounting data for the
preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Internal
controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are met.
The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a control should not exceed its likely
benefits and that the evaluation of costs and benefits is subject to management estimates and judgments.
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Single Audit

As a recipient of federal, state and county funding, the City is responsible for providing assurance that
adequate internal controls are in place to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating
to these award programs. Internal controls are subject to periodic evaluation by management, the Office of
the City Auditor, and the City's external independent auditors.

As part of the City's single audit procedures, tests are performed to test the effectiveness of the internal
controls over major federal award programs and the City’s compliance with applicable laws and regulations
related to these award programs.

Budgetary Controls

The City maintains budgetary controls through the City Council’'s adoption of an annual appropriation
ordinance and by maintaining an encumbrance accounting system. Expenditures for City operations and
other purposes identified in the annual budget cannot legally exceed the budgeted amounts approved by
the City Council.

The City also uses encumbrance accounting as another technique for accomplishing budgetary control. An
encumbrance is a commitment of a future expenditure earmarked for a purpose that reduces the amount
of budgetary authority available for general spending. At the end of the fiscal year, encumbered
appropriations are carried forward and become part of the following year's budget while appropriations that
have not been encumbered lapse.

The City continues to meet its responsibility for sound financial management as demonstrated by the
statements and schedules included in the financial section of this report.

Debt Management Policy

The City’s Debt Management Policy was adopted by the City Council on May 21, 2002 and most recently
revised on March 7, 2017, and is reviewed annually. The Debt Management Policy establishes the following
equally important objectives:

Minimize debt service and issuance costs;

Maintain access to cost-effective borrowing;

Achieve the highest practical credit rating;

Full and timely repayment of debt;

Maintain full and complete financial disclosure and reporting;

Ensure financial controls are in place with respect to proceeds of debt issuances; and
Ensure compliance with applicable State and Federal laws.

The first set of program-specific policies, related to the City’s multifamily housing program, was adopted by
the City Council on June 11, 2002 and subsequently reaffirmed and amended on March 27, 2018.

AWARDS

The Government Finance Officers Association (“GFOA”) of the United States and Canada awarded its
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City for its CAFR for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2017. This was the thirtieth consecutive year the City has received this prestigious award.
To qualify for the Certificate of Achievement, the governmental entity must publish an easily readable and
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efficiently organized CAFR, the contents of which conform to program standards. Such report must satisfy
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, as well as all applicable legal
requirements.

The Certificate of Achievement is valid for only one year. The City believes this CAFR continues to conform
to the Certificate of Achievement Program requirements and will be submitting it to GFOA for consideration
of the annual award.

For the twenty-eighth consecutive year, the City received the GFOA Distinguished Budget Preparation
Award for its annual budget for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2017. To qualify for this award, the
government unit must publish a budget document that meets program criteria as a policy document, a
financial plan, an operations guide, and a communications medium.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The preparation of this CAFR represents the culmination of a concerted team effort by the entire staff of
the Finance Department. Many members of the Department demonstrated exemplary personal
determination and dedicated many long days of focused attention to produce this document.

In addition, staff in all City departments and the Successor Agency of the Redevelopment Agency should
be recognized for responding so positively to the requests for detailed information that accompanies each
annual audit. The City also recognizes the contributions and positive working relationship with Macias Gini
& O’Connell LLP.

Finally, we wish to express our sincere appreciation to the Mayor and City Council for providing policy
direction and a firm foundation of support for the pursuit of excellence in all realms of professional

endeavors, especially their role in guiding the City to a secure financial condition that assures resources
are available to provide core services to the community.

Respectfully submitted,
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DAVID SYKES
City Manager
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ector of Finance
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

City Council
City of San José, California

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of San José,
California (City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not
audit the financial statements of the City of San José Federated City Employees’ Retirement System and
the City of San José Police and Fire Department Retirement Plan (collectively, “the Pension Trust
Funds™), which represent 86.3 percent, 117.3 percent, and 47.1 percent, respectively, of the assets, fund
balance/net position, and revenues/additions of the aggregate remaining fund information. Those
statements were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and our opinion,
insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Pension Trust Funds, is based solely on the reports of
the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Macias Gini & O'Connell LLP
2121 N. California Boulevard, Suite 750
Walnut Creek, CA 94596 www.mgocpa.com



We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of
the City as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash
flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1.E. to the financial statements, effective as of July 1, 2017, the City adopted the
provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. Our opinion is not modified with respect
to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis; the schedules of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance — budget
and actual for the General Fund, Housing Activities, and Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund;
the schedule of employer contributions — defined benefit pension plans; the schedule of changes in the
employer’s net pension liability — defined benefit pension plans; the schedule of investment returns —
defined benefit pension plans; the schedule of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability
and related ratios — CalPERS; the schedule of employer contributions - CalPERS; the schedule of changes
in the employer’s net OPEB liability and related ratios — postemployment healthcare plans; the schedule
of employer contributions — postemployment healthcare plans; and the schedule of investment returns —
postemployment healthcare plans, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical
context. We and other auditors have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, the combining and individual
fund financial statements and schedules listed as supplemental information, and the statistical section are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.



The combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules listed as supplemental information
are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America by us and other auditors. In our opinion, based on our audit, the
procedures performed as described above, and the reports of the other auditors, the combining and
individual fund financial statements and schedules listed as supplemental information are fairly stated, in
all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
November 16, 2018 on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on
the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Maa'ats (oihi c’f OComel @

Walnut Creek, California
November 16, 2018



City of San José
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
June 30, 2018

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) provides an overview of the City of San José’s (“City”)
activities and financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. Readers are encouraged to
read the MD&A in conjunction with the basic financial statements that immediately follow, along with the
letter of transmittal at the beginning of the Introductory Section, and with other portions of this
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”). All amounts have been rounded to the nearest one
hundred thousand dollars and one tenth of a percent.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

e The government-wide statement of net position for the City’s governmental and business-type activities
indicates that as of June 30, 2018, total assets and deferred outflows of resources exceed total liabilities
and deferred inflows of resources by $3.939 billion. Of this amount, a deficit of $2.414 billion represents
unrestricted net position, which is comprised of a deficit balance of $2.667 billion for governmental
activities, and a positive balance of $252.9 million for business-type activities. In addition, the City’s
restricted net position totals $1.073 billion ($1.0 billion for governmental activities and $72.8 million for
business-type activities) based on the restrictions imposed by the enabling legislations or debt
covenants. Lastly, net position of $5.280 billion is the City’s net investment in capital assets ($4.350
billion for governmental activities and $930.6 million for business-type activities).

e The net position decreased by $740.1 million or 15.8 percent during 2017-2018 to $3.939 billion from
$4.679 billion primarily due to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 75 effective July 1, 2017.
Expenses continued to exceed revenues although property tax and other tax related revenues and
sales taxes shared revenues increased by $68.5 million over the prior year.

e Governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of $1.424 billion at June 30, 2018, which
is $9.1 million or 0.6 percent more than the June 30, 2017 balance. The increase was attributable to an
increase in the Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund of $27.0 million, the Housing Activities
Fund of $5.5 million, the Special Assessment Districts Fund of $2.3 million, the Nonmajor Governmental
Funds of $11.2 million, and offset by decrease in the General Fund of $19.8 million and the San José
Financing Authority Debt Service Fund of $17.1 million.

e Unassigned fund balance of governmental funds totals $82.5 million, which is 5.8 percent of combined
governmental fund balances at June 30, 2018.

e Total long-term liabilities (excluding net pension and Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) — net
OPEB Liability) decreased by $238.7 million to $2.546 billion at June 30, 2018, which represents a
decrease of 8.6 percent compared to $2.785 billion at June 30, 2017. The primary factors leading to
the decrease in long-term liabilities for governmental activities of $199.1 million was primarily due to
the scheduled debt service payments of $58.9 million, refunding of two series of City of San José
Financing Authority Bonds, $67.1 million Series 2001F Revenue Bonds and $23.9 million 2001A
Revenue Bonds as part of the 2017 Tax Allocation Bond refunding. In addition, City of San José
Financing Authority refunded $37.1 million 2008F Bonds in 2017-2018 with property sale proceeds.
The primary factors leading to the decrease in long-term liabilities for business-type activities of $39.6
million was due to the scheduled debt service payments.

e Net pension liability increased by $181.4 million or 6.0 percent during 2017-2018 to $3.192 billion from
$3.011 billion. Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions decreased by $116.9 million or 11.1
percent, and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions decreased by $2.2 million or 33.2
percent. The changes were mainly due to a net gain of $104.2 million between projected and actual
investment earnings on the City of San José Police and Fire Department Retirement Plan and the City
of San José Federated Employees’ Retirement System, and an increase of $241.3 million to the total
pension liability resulting from changes of assumptions and differences between expected and actual
actuarial experience. More details on the net pension liability are included in the Note IV.A3 on page
128.
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e In 2017-2018, the City implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 75, which
requires the City to report its net OPEB liability separately on the Government-Wide Statement of Net
Position and the Proprietary Funds Statement of Fund Net Position. As of June 30, 2018, total net
OPERB liability was $1.071 billion which included $957.6 million in governmental activities and $113.7
million in business-type activities.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis provides an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements, which are
comprised of four components:

Government-wide Financial Statements
Fund Financial Statements

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
Required Supplementary Information

In addition, this report also contains other supplementary information.
Government-wide Financial Statements

Government-wide Financial Statements provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances in
a manner similar to that of a private-sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities,
and deferred inflows of resources. The difference between total assets and deferred outflows of resources
and total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources is the City’s net position. Over time, increases or
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the City’s financial position is improving
or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the net position changed during the most
recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to
the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are
reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future fiscal periods. Examples
include revenues pertaining to uncollected taxes and expenses pertaining to earned but unused vacation
and sick leave.

Both of these government-wide financial statements address functions that principally are supported by
taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) and other functions that intend to recover
all or in part a portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The
governmental activities of the City include general government, public safety, capital maintenance,
community services, sanitation, and interest and fiscal charges. The City’s business-type activities include
airport, wastewater treatment, water supply, parking operations, and clean energy program.

The government-wide financial statements include the primary government of the City and four separate
components for which the City is financially accountable.

Fund Financial Statements

Fund Financial Statements report information about groupings of related accounts used to maintain
control over resources segregated for specific activities or objectives. As do other state and local
governments, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate finance-related legal compliance.
Each City fund falls into one of three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, or fiduciary funds.
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Governmental funds account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements,
governmental funds financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources,
as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may
be useful in evaluating the City’s capacity to finance its programs in the near future.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information
presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers
may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the
governmental funds balance sheet and the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures and
changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate comparison between governmental funds and
governmental activities.

The governmental funds balance sheet and the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures
and changes in fund balances present information separately for the General Fund, the Housing Activities
Fund, the Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund, the Special Assessment Districts Fund, and the
San José Financing Authority Debt Service Fund which are all classified as major funds. These statements
also report several individual governmental funds classified as nonmajor funds such as special revenue,
debt service, and capital project funds, which are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.
Individual fund data for each of the nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining
statements elsewhere in this CAFR.

Proprietary funds generally account for services charged to external or internal customers through fees.
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as shown in the government-wide financial
statements for business-type activities, only in more detail. The City accounts for its airport, wastewater
treatment, water system, parking operations, and San José Clean Energy Program in proprietary funds.

The City accounts for its public works program support, employee benefits, stores, and vehicle maintenance
and operations as internal service funds. These services predominantly benefit governmental functions.
Therefore, they are included as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.
Individual fund data for each of the nonmaijor internal service funds are provided in the form of combining
statements elsewhere in this CAFR.

Fiduciary funds account for resources held for the benefit of City employees and outside parties in a
similar manner as that for proprietary funds. Pension plan trust funds, private purpose trust funds, and
agency funds are reported as fiduciary funds. The government-wide financial statements do not include
fiduciary funds as their resources are not available to support City programs.

Notes to Basic Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information includes the budgetary schedules for the General Fund, the
Housing Activities Fund, and the Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund. In addition, pension and
other postemployment healthcare schedules present the City’s progress toward funding its obligations to
provide future pension and other postemployment healthcare benefits for its active and retired employees.

Combining and individual fund statements and schedules provide information for nonmajor
governmental funds, internal service funds, and fiduciary funds and are presented immediately following
the required supplementary information.
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Analysis of net position: As noted earlier, net position may serve as a useful indicator of a government’s
financial position. As of June 30, 2018, the City’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources exceed
total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $3.939 billion. The following table is a condensed
summary of the City’s net position for governmental and business-type activities:

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2018 and 2017
(in thousands)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals
FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2017
Assets:
Current and other asséts................ $ 1,726,000 §$ 1819677 $ 881,034 § 872457 § 2607124 § 2,692,134
Capital @ssets........cccrvveveerrrnnn, 5,316,928 5,439,984 2,123,324 2,061,572 7,440,252 7,501,556
Total assets............cccvvvevvenne, 7,043,018 7,259,661 3,004,358 2,934,029 10,047,376 10,193,690
Deferred outflows of resources:
Loss on refundings of debt............. 721 905 8,616 9,686 9,337 10,591
Deferred outflows of resources
related to pensions..................... 824,288 929,516 109,303 120,954 933,591 1,050,470
Deferred outflows of resources
related to other postemployment
benefits......ccovveeeiiiiiieeee i, 50,616 - 7,163 - 57,779 -
Total deferred outflows of resources 875,625 930,421 125,082 130,640 1,000,707 1,061,061
Liabilities:
Current and other liabilities............. 200,994 198,169 90,074 96,180 291,068 294,349
Long-term liabilities....................... 1,233,965 1,433,028 1,312,194 1,351,802 2,546,159 2,784,830
Net pension liability...................... 2,835,815 2,678,942 356,541 332,035 3,192,356 3,010,977
Net OPEB liability........................ 957,581 436,180 113,684 42,284 1,071,265 478,464
Total liabilties....................... 5,228,355 4,746,319 1,872,493 1,822,301 7,100,848 6,568,620
Deferred inflows of resources:
Gain on refundings of debt............. - - - 107 - 107
Deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions..................... 3,980 5,982 513 742 4,493 6,724
Deferred inflows of resources
related to other postemployment
benefits..........cocovveeiiiiiiiie 3,415 - 125 - 3,540 -
Total deferred inflow of resources 7,395 5,982 638 849 8,033 6,831
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 4,349,559 4,391,069 930,631 814,473 5,280,190 5,205,542
Restricted ..........cooovviviiiiiinn, 1,000,459 982,168 72,750 75,945 1,073,209 1,058,113
Unrestricted (2,667,125)  (1,935,456) 252,928 351,101 (2,414,197) (1,584,355)
Total net position..................... $ 2682893 § 3437781 § 1256309 § 1241519 § 3939202 § 4679300
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At June 30, 2018, the City reported positive balances in net position on a total basis. Net investment in
capital assets (infrastructure, land, buildings, other improvements, vehicles, and equipment, less
outstanding debt used to acquire them and deferred inflow and outflow related to debt) of $5.280 billion
comprises 134 percent of the City’s total net position. These capital assets facilitate providing services to
the San José community, but they are not liquid, and therefore they are not available for future spending.
During 2017-2018, net investment in capital assets increased by $74.6 million primarily due to the
depreciation expense of $303.1 million offset by additions (net) to capital assets of $241.8 million, and
decrease of $135.9 million in the long-term debt related to purchase of capital assets. A portion of the City’s
net position, $1.073 billion or 27.2 percent, are subject to legal restrictions on their use, including $1.0 billion
in governmental activities and $72.8 million in business-type activities. Of the total net position at June 30,
2018, a deficit balance of $2.414 billion or 61.3 percent represents unrestricted net position, which
comprises a deficit balance of $2.667 billion for governmental activities, and a positive balance of $252.9
million for business-type activities. The primary factor contributing to the deficit unrestricted net position is
the City’s net pension and OPEB liabilities.

During 2017-2018, the City’s total net position decreased by $740.1 million. Notable changes in the
statement of net position between June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017 include:

e Capital assets decreased by $61.3 million or 0.8 percent compared to the prior fiscal year.
Governmental capital assets decreased by $123.1 million and business-type capital assets increased
by $61.8 million. The decrease in governmental capital assets resulted from depreciation expense of
$221.9 million for major infrastructure and other assets, partially offset by additions (net) to capital
assets of $120.4 million, which included $47.7 million of additional capital projects and $34.9 million of
contributed capital from donated infrastructure assets. The increase in business-type capital assets
was primarily due to depreciation expense of $81.2 million, offset by additions to capital assets of
$143.1 million primarily at the Airport and Wastewater Treatment Facility. As of June 30, 2018, the
Airport completed construction of Gates 29 and 30 at Terminal B and infrastructure upgrades to its
perimeter security technology.

e Current and other assets decreased by $85.0 million or 3.2 percent due to a decrease of $93.6 million
for governmental activities offset by an increase of $8.6 million for business-type activities. The
decrease in governmental activities is mainly due to the decrease in Successor Agency to the
Redevelopment Agency (SARA) of the City of San Jose long-term receivables to the City with the
refunding of 2001F Lease Revenue Bonds and 2001A Lease Revenue Bonds. The increase in current
assets for business-type activities is mainly due to higher cash and investments resulting from revenues
exceeding expenses.

e Total long-term liabilities (excluding net pension and OPEB liability) decreased by $238.7 million to
$2.546 billion at June 30, 2018, which represents a decrease of 8.6 percent compared to $2.785 billion
at June 30, 2017. The primary factors leading to the decrease in long-term liabilities for governmental
activities of $199.1 million was primarily due to the scheduled debt service payments of $58.9 million,
and refunding of $67.1 million Series 2001F Lease Revenue Bonds and $23.9 million 2001A Lease
Revenue Bonds. In addition, the City of San José Financing Authority refunded $37.1 million 2008F
Bonds in 2017-2018 with property sale proceeds. The primary factors leading to the decrease in long-
term liabilities for business-type activities of $39.6 million were due to the scheduled debt service
payments.

e Current and other liabilities decreased by $3.3 million or 1.1 percent due to an increase of $2.8 million
for governmental activities offset by a decrease of $6.1 million for business-type activities.

e Net pension liability increased by $181.4 million or 6.0 percent during 2017-2018 to $3.192 billion from
$3.011 billion. Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions decreased by $116.9 million or 11.1
percent, and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions decreased by $2.2 million or 33.2
percent. The changes were mainly due to a net gain of $104.2 million between projected and actual
investment earnings on the Retirement Plans, and an increase of $241.3 million to the net pension
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liability resulting from changes of assumptions and differences between expected and actual actuarial
experience. More details on the net pension liability are included in the Note 1V.A3 on page 128.

In 2017-2018, the City implemented GASB Statement No. 75, which requires the City to report its net
OPERB liability in the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position. As of June 30, 2018, total net OPEB
liability was $1.071 billion, which included $957.6 million in governmental activities and $113.7 million
in business-type activities. As a result of the implementation of the standard, the prior year net OPEB
obligation of $478.5 million under GASB Statement No. 45 was eliminated and replaced with the net
OPEB liability.

Unrestricted net position for governmental activities decreased by $731.7 million or 37.8 percent with
a deficit balance of $2.67 billion at June 30, 2018. The primary factor contributing to the increased
deficit unrestricted net position for governmental activities is the reporting of the City’s net OPEB liability
in the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position with the implementation of GASB Statement No.
75. For business-type activities, unrestricted net position decreased by $98.2 million or 28.0 percent
with a positive balance of $252.9 million at June 30, 2018. This was also mainly due to the reporting of
net OPEB liability on the Statement of Net Position in 2017-2018.



Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

City of San José

June 30, 2018

Analysis of activities: The following table indicates the changes in net position for governmental and

business-type activities:

Revenues:

Program revenues:
Fees, fines, and charges for senvices.............
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions.......................

General revenues:
Property and other taxes...................c..oeei.
Uity e
Franchise ..........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiii
Transient occupancy taxes............ccoevvveninnnne.
Business taxes.................
Sales taxes shared revenue....
State of California in-lieu........................... .
Unrestricted interest and investment income......
Other revenue...........cooviiiiiiiiiii s

Total revenues...........ccoovviiiiiiiiiiies

Expenses:
General governmMeNt..........ccoveeieeiiiiieieiennns
Public safety.............coooiii
Community senices
Sanitation..................
Capital maintenance...............c.coooviiiiiiinnne.
Interest and fiscal charges................coocoeeients
Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport
Wastewater Treatment System.......................
Municipal Water System.............cccceovviiinnnnn.
Parking System..........c.coiiiiiiii
San Jose Clean Energy.........ccoccoveeveinieninnnnan,
Total expenses............ccceviiniinnnn.
Excess (deficiency) before transfers...
Transfers...........ccoooiiiiiins
Change in net position............
Net position at beginning of year.............cc.........
Change in accounting principle......................
Net position at beginning of year, as restated
Net position at end of year...................coeeenns

Statement of Activities
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017
(in thousands)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals

FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2017
$ 419,189 $ 462,862 $ 532,975 $ 479,003 $ 952,164 $ 941,865
113,938 86,779 894 1,233 114,832 88,012
97,441 63,647 16,362 13,258 113,803 76,905
461,964 431,138 - - 461,964 431,138
120,234 121,046 - - 120,234 121,046
51,180 49,642 - - 51,180 49,642
48,854 45,511 - - 48,854 45,511
70,673 54,159 - - 70,673 54,159
226,337 207,695 - - 226,337 207,695
551 467 - - 551 467
6,688 9,062 6,322 3,955 13,010 13,017
36,485 4,459 4,961 19,211 41,446 23,670
1,653,534 1,536,467 561,514 516,660 2,215,048 2,053,127
132,157 127,090 - - 132,157 127,090
769,305 694,557 - - 769,305 694,557
329,222 310,470 - - 329,222 310,470
164,890 156,299 - - 164,890 156,299
494,007 444,867 - - 494,007 444,867
57,002 54,844 - - 57,002 54,844
- - 207,675 204,774 207,675 204,774
- - 203,272 192,302 203,272 192,302
- - 49,156 42,647 49,156 42,647
- - 14,503 14,269 14,503 14,269

- - 1,116 - 1,116 -
1,946,583 1,788,127 475,722 453,992 2,422,305 2,242,119
(293,049) (251,660) 85,792 62,668 (207,257) (188,992)

5,769 3,387 (5,769) (3,387) - -
(287,280) (248,273) 80,023 59,281 (207,257) (188,992)
3,437,781 3,686,053 1,241,519 1,182,238 4,679,300 4,868,291

(467,608) - (65,233) - (532,841) -
2,970,173 3,686,053 1,176,286 1,182,238 4,146,459 4,868,291
$ 2,682,893 $ 3,437,780 $ 1,256,309 $ 1,241,519 $ 3,939,202 $ 4,679,299

Governmental activities: Net position for governmental activities decreased by $754.9 million or 22
percent during 2017-2018 from $3.438 billion to $2.683 billion. Total expenses increased by $158.5 million
and total revenues increased by $117.1 million. The increase in revenues was not sufficient to offset total
expenses resulting in a decrease in net position before transfers. The major factors contributing to the
decrease in net position before transfers from June 30, 2017 to June 30, 2018 are as follows:

e Contributing factors resulting in increases to certain revenue categories are as follows: Property and
other taxes revenue increased by $30.8 million or 7.2 percent due to an increase in assessed valuations
based on a strong real estate market. Sales tax shared revenues were also $18.6 million or 9.0 percent
higher compared to the prior year mainly due to the full year implementation of the Local Sales Tax that
was approved by the voters in June 2016 and became effective in October 2016. Operating grants and
contributions increased by $27.2 million or 31.3 percent primarily due to an increase of $20.5 million in
the Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund due to repayments of multi-family loans in 2017-
2018 and an increase of $1.6 million in public safety grants due to UASI grant revenues being received
in 2018 for the years of 2017 and 2016. Capital grants and contributions increased by $33.8 million in
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current year due to a $21.1 million increase in developer donated infrastructure projects, which included
storm sewer, roadway, traffic, and land improvements, $6.0 million increase in Special Assessment
District Funds and $5.7 million increase in Construction Excise Tax due to the receipt of new gas tax
revenues from the SB1 Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017. Transient occupancy tax receipts
from guests staying in the City’s local hotels increased by $3.3 million or 7.4 percent due to continuing
higher occupancy and room rates. Business tax receipts were $16.5 million or 30.5 percent higher
mainly because of the change in business tax rates as approved by voters in November 2016 and
became effective on July 1, 2017. Other revenues increased by $32.0 million in the General Fund
mainly due to the sale of Airport West property.

Contributing factors resulting in decreases to certain revenue categories are as follows: Fees, fines,
and charges for services decreased by $43.7 million or 9.4 percent, mainly due to the $36.0 million of
a one-time proceeds from the HUD judgement award recorded in the Housing Activities Fund in 2016-
2017. The General Fund charges for services decreased $18.2 million, which were partially offset by
$3.0 million higher revenues at the Convention Center, and a higher $8.2 million in Construction Excise
Tax fund due to an increase in collection of the Traffic Impact Fee.

General government expenses increased $5.1 million or 4.0 percent during 2017-2018 mainly due to a
$3.6 million increase in General Fund salary costs.

Public safety expenses increased by $74.7 million or 10.8 percent primarily due to an increase in
pension expense of $36.9 million, and higher salary and other related expenses of $57.1 million from
filling vacant positions, offset by $11.8 million in lower workers’ compensation expense.

Community services expenses increased by $18.8 million or 6.0 percent mainly due to an increase in
pension expense of $8.0 million and an increase of $11.7 million in labor and other costs associated
with an increase in major events at the Convention Center during 2017-2018.

Sanitation expenses increased by $8.6 million or 5.5 percent primarily due to an increase in pension
expense of $1.9 million, an increase of $1.7 million in salary costs from additional positions, and an
increase of $4.7 million in the Integrated Waste Management Fund due to 1) an increase in the Refuse
Rate Index for the haulers contract, and 2) an increase in back end processing costs. As part of a multi-
year effort, the City expanded the recycling of general solid waste items collected from the single-family
households to minimize items going to the landfill.

Capital maintenance expenses increased by $49.1 million or 11 percent primarily due to an increase of
$8.4 million in the General Fund which is explained in more detail in the General Fund section, an
increase of $12.0 million in the Special Assessment Districts Fund due to the significant increase in
expenditures related to the design costs at the Convention Center Exhibit Hall Lighting and Ceiling
Upgrade Project, an increase in pension expense of $11.4 million, and an increase of $4.4 million in
the Construction Excise Tax Funds related to the Route 101/Trimble/De La Cruz Interchange
improvements.

Interest and fiscal charges were up $2.2 million in 2017-2018 due to increase in variable interest rates
on outstanding notes, bonds, and commercial paper.

11
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Governmental Activities Revenues 2018

Unrestricted interest
and investment

State of California In- earnings
lieu 0.4%
9 ’ Other revenue
0.1%
Sales taxes shared revenue 2.2%
13.6%
? Transfers Fees, fines, and
Business taxes 0.3% charges for services
4.3% 25.3%
Transient occupancy
taxes
2.9%

Operating grants &
contributions

Franchise fees 6.9%

3.1%

Utility taxes Capital grants &

7.2% Property taxes contributions
27.8% 5.9%

The chart shows the primary components of governmental activities revenue sources for 2017-2018. Of the
$1.659 billion in total revenues generated by governmental activities, 73.9 percent is attributable to four
categories: fees, fines, and charges for services (25.3 percent), property taxes (27.8 percent), sales taxes
shared revenue (13.6 percent), and utility taxes (7.2 percent).

The chart below shows the major categories of 2017-2018 expenses for governmental activities. Of the
$1.946 billion in total expenses incurred by governmental activities, the categories accounting for 81.8
percent of the totals are: public safety (39.5 percent); capital maintenance (25.4 percent); and community
services (16.9 percent).
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Governmental Activities Expenses 2018

Interest and fiscal

charges
2.9% General Government
Capital Maintenance ‘ / 6.8%
25.4%
Public Safety
39.5%
Sanitation
8.5%

Community Services
16.9%

Business-type activities: Business-type activities net position increased by $14.8 million or 1.2 percent
to $1.256 billion in 2017-2018.

The notable components of the changes in net position for business-type activities in 2017-2018 are:

Airport Change in net position from current year activities showed an increase of $7.9 million in 2017-2018
compared to an increase of $2.8 million in 2016-2017. The combination of an increase in operating income
and a decrease in net nonoperating expenses was more than the offset due to an increase in operating
expenses, a decrease in capital contributions, and the restatement of beginning net position to reflect the
changes in accounting principle resulting from the implementation of GASB Statement Number 75.

The Airport had a net operating income of $22.2 million, an increase of $4.1 million compared to prior year’s
operating income of $18.1 million. Operating revenues increased by 10.2 percent from $152.9 million in
2016-2017 to $168.6 million in 2017-2018, which was mainly due to an increase in general aviation
attributable to growth in passenger traffic. A total of approximately 13.5 million passengers traveled through
the Airport in 2017-2018 compared to approximately 11.5 million in 2016-2017, resulting in passenger traffic
growth of 17.2 percent.

Operating expenses in 2017-2018 increased 8.6 percent, or $11.6 million, from $134.8 million in 2016-2017
to $146.4 million in 2017-2018. Increases were experienced in salaries and fringe benefits, pension
expenses, higher costs for public safety employees, non-personnel expenses, and depreciation expenses.

Wastewater Treatment System net position increased by $8.7 million or 1.0 percent from $857.4 million
to $866.1 million. The increase was primarily due to revenues exceeding expenses (before capital
contributions) by $52.8 million, offset by a restatement of 2016-2017 net position of $46.6 million due to the
financial reporting impact resulting from the implementation of the GASB Statement Number 75. The largest
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portion, $700.3 million or 80.9 percent, of the net position was its net investment in capital assets (e.g. land,
buildings, and infrastructure) less outstanding debt that was used to acquire those assets. Approximately
$157.2 million, or 18.2 percent of the total net position, constitutes unrestricted net position, which may be
used to finance day-to-day operations without constraints established by debt covenants or other legal
requirements.

Operating revenues increased $30.1 million primarily due to a 3.0 percent sewer rate increase effective
July 1, 2017, higher contributions from outside users toward the Water Pollution Control Plant’s (the Plant)
ongoing maintenance, replacement and debt service costs by $19.2 million, and higher recycled-water
revenue due to recycled-water rate increase by $1.5 million.

Total operating expenses increased by $11.3 million compared to the prior fiscal year. The increase was
due to an increase of $7.7 million in pension expense; an increase of $3.2 million in personnel costs; an
increase of $2.7 million in direct overhead costs; an increase of $6.0 million in sanitary sewer line condition
assessment, rehabilitation, and preventive maintenance programs in the wastewater collection system; and
an increase of $2.6 million of equalization payment to the Santa Clara Valley Water District for the Silicon
Valley Advanced Water Purification center, offset by a $9.6 million decrease due to various Plant capital
projects progressing from planning, feasibility or development phases to design and construction related
work and a decrease of $2.6 million in Owner Controlled Insurance expenses to provide a centralized
insurance program for losses associated with onsite construction of Capital Improvement Program at the
Plant.

Net nonoperating revenues increased by $1.3 million primarily due to higher investment income and receipt
of higher operating grants. Capital contributions increased by $2.6 million mainly due to an increase in
donated assets from developers.

Municipal Water System net position decreased by $4.3 million or 5.0 percent from $87.8 million to $83.5
million. The decrease was due to a restatement of $5.1 million to the beginning net position related to the
adoption of GASB Statement No. 75. Operating revenues of $48.6 million increased by $3.9 million or 8.8
percent due to increase in both user fee rates and total consumption. Operating expenses of $49.1 million
increased by $6.5 million or 15.2 percent due to an increase in the cost of wholesale water for both portable
and recycled water, and an increase in operations and maintenance costs, higher costs due to increased
staffing, and higher salary and benefit costs.

Parking System net position increased by $3.7 million or 3.6 percent from $99.7 million to $103.4 million.
Operating revenues were flat compared to the prior fiscal year. Nonoperating revenue decreased by $14.6
million or 78.9 percent. The decrease is due to the recording of a $13.5 million loan reinstatement between
the City and Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency (SARA) as nonoperating revenue in 2016-
2017. Operating expenses increased by $0.0234 million or 1.6 percent reflecting higher general and
administrative costs.

San Jose Clean Energy (SJCE) is the newest enterprise fund established in 2017-2018 to account for
revenues from the sale of electricity and the costs associated with the San Jose Clean Energy Program.
There were no operating revenues in the current fiscal year. Operating expenses were $1.1 million which
were mainly SICE personnel and operations start-up costs. The deficit position is projected to improve in
2018-2019 when the SJCE programs are fully operational.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements.

As of June 30, 2018, the City’'s governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $1.424 billion
compared to $1.415 billion balances in 2016-2017. The governmental fund balances are categorized as
nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, or unassigned.

e $0.15 million consists of nonspendable fund balance related to advances and deposits that are not
intended to convert into cash and long-term in nature and do not represent currently available
resources.

e $979.6 million is reported as restricted fund balance that includes restrictions imposed by external
parties or enabling legislation. This amount includes unspent bond proceeds, unspent grant
revenues, and restricted tax revenues.

e $155.7 million is reported as committed fund balance that had been limited by formal Council action
to a specific purpose.

e $206.3 million is reported as assigned fund balance that includes amounts that may be used for
specific purposes, but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed.

e $82.5 million is reported as unassigned fund balance that represents the residual classification for
the City’s General Fund and includes all spendable amounts not contained in the other
classifications.

General Fund: The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At June 30, 2018, the General
Fund’s unassigned fund balance is $82.5 million or 28.2 percent of the $293.0 million total General Fund
balance. Comparing unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures may be
useful as a measure of the General Fund’s capacity to liquidate future obligations. At June 30, 2018,
unassigned fund balance represents 8.1 percent of total General Fund expenditures of $1.013 billion, while
total fund balance represents 28.9 percent of total General Fund expenditures. At June 30, 2017, the same
measures were 8.9 percent and 34.9 percent, respectively.

For the second time in five years, the revenue sources in 2017-2018 were not sufficient to cover all
expenditures. The General Fund ending fund balance decreased by $19.8 million from $312.8 million to
$293.0 million at June 30, 2018.

In 2017-2018, General Fund revenues of $978.8 million were $77.7 million or 8.6 percent higher than 2016-
2017 revenues of $901.1 million. Taxes and special assessments revenues increased by $48.4 million or
9.3 percent. The increase was primarily attributed to the following revenue sources: increases of $29.6
million in property tax due to increased assessed valuations based on a strong real estate market as well
as additional property tax distribution after the Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency bond
refunding in December 2017 and higher excess Educational Revenue Augmentation Fund revenues; an
increase of $1.5 million in franchise fee due to a growth in the electricity and gas utilities; an increase of
$16.5 million in business tax due to changes in the City’s business tax base rates as approved by voters in
June 2016 and became effective on July 1, 2017; and an increase of $1.3 million in the transient occupancy
tax allocated to the General Fund due to continued strong hotel occupancy and increases in average room
rates in the City.

Sales taxes shared revenues increased by $18.6 million or 9.0 percent due primarily to the full year
implementation of the Local Sales Tax that was approved by the voters in June 2016 and became effective
in October 2016. During the past ten fiscal years, this revenue source has grown 77.1 percent from $127.8
million in tax receipts in 2008-2009 to $226.3 million in tax receipts in 2017-2018.
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Charges for services revenues were $6.3 million or 13.6 percent higher compared to prior fiscal year
primarily due to an increase in Planning and Public Works development related revenues and recreation
program fee.

2017-2018 General Fund expenditures of $1.014 billion were $116.5 million or 13 percent higher than 2016-
2017 expenditures of $896.9 million as discussed below:

General government expenditures increased by $4.9 million primarily due to increases in salary and
benefit related costs.

Public safety expenditures increased by $57.1 million primarily due to filling vacant sworn positions,
salary and pension cost increases, and acquisition of additional equipment.

Community services expenditures were $6.1 million higher mainly due to an increase in non-personnel
costs.

Capital maintenance expenditures increased by $8.4 million due to increase spending on streets and
road pavement activities, acquisition of fire apparatus, and upgrade of the police communication
system,

Debt service payments were $38.4 million higher due to the refunding of City of San José Financing
Authority Series 2008F bonds and HUD loans with proceeds from the sale of property.

Housing Activities Fund: The City’s Housing Activities fund receives resources from the U.S. Department
of Housing and Urban Development and the California Department of Housing and Community
Development. At June 30, 2018, the fund’'s loan receivable balance (net), which represents loans to
developers of various affordable housing projects and first time homebuyers, was $69.0 million. This
balance includes loans to developers for various projects, including Ford and Monterey, Taylor Oaks
Apartments, Donner Lofts, Japantown Seniors, The Metropolitan, Roundtable, Kings Crossing, Fourth
Street Apartments, Peacock Commons, Archer Studios, Canoas Terrace, Curtner Studios, Homesafe,
Markham Plaza, Plaza Del Sol, Corde Terra Village Senior, Willow Glen Senior Housing, Santa Clara Inn,
and Second Street Studios. Restricted fund balance increased by $5.5 million to $133.2 million at June 30,
2018. The increase is primarily due to revenues from intergovernmental ($8.1 million), and investment and
other revenues ($11.8 million) exceeding expenditures for community services ($14.4 million).
Intergovernmental revenues decreased by $3.4 million or 29.3 percent compared to prior year due to less
grant funds received from HOME Investment Partnership Program. Other revenue decreased by $36.0
million or 81.3 percent compared to prior year due to a one-time proceeds from the HUD judgment awarded
to the City in 2016-2017.

Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund: The Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset fund
was created pursuant to the Redevelopment Dissolution Law to administer the housing assets and functions
related to the Low and Moderate Income Housing Program retained by the City following the dissolution of
the former Agency. At June 30, 2018, the fund’s loan receivable balance (net) was $223.6 million. This
balance consists mainly of loans to developers for various projects including Almaden Family Apartments,
Belovida Apartments, Brookwood Terrace, Cinnabar Commons, Corde Terra Village, Las Ventanas, Oak
Tree Village, Pollard Plaza, Terramina Square, Villas on the Park, Second Street Studios, and The
Metropolitan (South). Restricted fund balance increased by $27.0 million to $379.3 million from $352.3
million. The increase is primarily due to repayments of developer loans.

Special Assessment Districts Fund: The Special Assessment Districts fund accounts for debt issuance
and capital improvements related to the specific purposes of eight special assessment and community
facilities districts located in different parts of the City. A total of $130.8 million in special assessment and
special tax bonds were outstanding at June 30, 2018. All bonds are secured by special assessments or
special taxes charged to the owners’ real property in the district issuing the debt, except for the Special
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Hotel Tax Revenue Bond, Series 2011, which are secured by a first lien on the Convention Center Facilities
District No.2008-1 special tax revenues and any of the Available Transient Occupancy Tax (Available TOT
as defined in the bond documents) as appropriated by City Council. The City is not obligated to advance
available surplus funds from the City Treasury to cure any deficiency in the Redemption Fund for these
bonds; provided, however, the City is not prevented, in its sole discretion, from so advancing funds.

Restricted fund balance increased by $2.3 million from $39.7 million to $42.0 million as of June 30, 2018.
The 2017-2018 total revenues of $26.9 million were below total expenditures of $33.4 million for 2017-
2018. The net transfers amount of $8.7 million resulted in a $2.3 million net positive change in fund balance.
The higher expenditures of $12.9 million, or 63.0 percent compared to the prior fiscal year were related to
the capital maintenance toward the Convention Center Exhibit Hall Lighting and Ceiling Upgrade Project
and funded by the $15.0 million Commercial Paper note issuance from the City of San José Financing
Authority.

City of San José Financing Authority Fund: The City’s Financing Authority Debt Service Fund accounts
for debt activity related to lease revenue bonds and commercial paper notes, which serves as a mechanism
for financing City public improvements and other eligible purposes. Restricted fund balance decreased by
$17.1 million from $28.5 million to $11.4 million as of June 30, 2018. The decrease was primarily due to a
$15.0 million transfer of commercial paper proceeds to Convention Center Exhibit Hall Project, Flood
Improvement Project, and Energy Conservation Project. In 2017-2018, this fund received $92.6 million
proceeds from the sale of Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency (SARA) refunding bonds, which
were used to refund 2001A and 2001F Bonds. In addition, the Authority also refunded $37.1 million 2008F
Bonds in 2017-2018 with property sale proceeds.

Proprietary Funds: The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the
government-wide financial statements for business-type activities, but in more detail. At June 30, 2018, the
unrestricted net position was $41.9 million for the Airport, $157.2 million for the Wastewater Treatment
System, $9.9 million for the Municipal Water System, $45.0 million for the Parking System, and negative
$1.1 million for the San Jose’ Clean Energy fund. Net position for proprietary funds increased from $1.242
billion at June 30, 2017 to $1.256 billion at June 30, 2018, resulting in an increase of $14.8 million or 1.2
percent.

Other aspects of proprietary fund activities are discussed in the business-type activities section above.
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

The City’s Charter requires the City Manager to submit balanced operating and capital budgets to the City
Council prior to the beginning of a new fiscal year that begins each July 1 and ends on the following June 30.
Council approved the 2017-2018 budgets in June 2017.

During the year ended June 30, 2018, there was a $48.5 million increase in the budgeted revenues between
the original and final amended operating budget for the General Fund. The budgeted revenues increases
were in all revenue categories except for licenses, permits and fines, and charges for service categories.

Actual budgetary basis expenditures of $1.051 billion were $124.2 million less than the amended budget

and $274.4 million less than the original budget due to planned expenditures not occurring in the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2018.
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CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

The City’s capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, for its governmental and business-type activities
together amounted to $7.440 billion at June 30, 2018. This investment includes land, infrastructure,
structures and improvements, vehicles, equipment, intangible assets, and construction in progress. The
City’s decision to depreciate infrastructure capital assets results in recording a large non-cash depreciation
expense each year that offsets additions to capital assets. For the year end June 30, 2018, net capital
assets decreased by $61.3 million ($123.1 million decreased in governmental activities and $61.8 million
increased in business-type activities) compared to net capital assets at June 30, 2017. The decrease in
capital assets of $123.1 million in governmental activities is primarily due to depreciation expense of $221.9
million and deletions of capital assets totaling $21.6 million, which included a $20.6 million land sale land
at 1125 Coleman Avenue. These decreases were offset by acquisitions of capital assets of $120.4 million.
The increase of $61.8 million in capital assets in the business-type activities resulted from depreciation
expense of $81.2 million, offset by additions of capital projects of $107.6 million and additions of $35.4
million in other capital improvements at the Airport and the Wastewater Treatment Facility.

Total construction in progress (CIP) increased by $61.7 million from $168.8 million at June 30, 2017 to
$230.5 million at June 30, 2018. Construction in progress for the governmental activities decreased by
$2.4 million primarily due to more CIP additions being placed into service than new additions to CIP. Two
of the larger assets placed into service included the expansion of Del Monte Park and Civic Auditorium
HVAC rehabilitation, which resulted in a $9.5 million decrease in CIP. Business-type activities contributed
an increase of $64.1 million to the total CIP as additions to the Airport and the Wastewater Treatment
System totaling $102.1 million was offset by $36.5 million in Airport projects that were completed and placed
in service. The completed Airport projects include the following: completion of infrastructure upgrades to its
perimeter security technology and construction of Gates 29 and 30 at the Terminal B.

The City records infrastructure assets at historical cost in the government-wide financial statements and
depreciates assets from acquisition date to the end of the current fiscal year as required by GASB
Statement No. 34. For governmental fund financial statements recording purposes, capital asset purchases
are recorded as expenditures, rather than capitalizing and recording related depreciation. Capital assets,
net of depreciation, for governmental and business-type activities in the government-wide financial
statements are presented below to illustrate changes between June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017 (in
thousands):

Gowvernmental activities Business-type activities Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Land $ 409,022 $ 413,533 $ 137,938 $ 134,926 $ 546,960 $ 548,459
Intangible assets - - 12,882 12,882 12,882 12,882
Construction in

progress 46,570 48,995 183,980 119,839 230,550 168,834
Buildings 1,000,352 1,037,733 1,046,008 1,071,189 2,046,360 2,108,922
Improvements, other

than buildings 224,407 214,072 650,662 636,328 875,069 850,400
Infrastructure 3,593,318 3,688,827 - - 3,593,318 3,688,827
Furniture and fixtures,

vehicles, equipment 43,259 36,824 91,854 86,408 135,113 123,232
Total capital assets $5,316,928 $5,439,984 $2,123,324 $2,061,572 $7,440,252 $7,501,556
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Commitments outstanding as of June 30, 2018, related to governmental and business-type activities
construction in progress totaled approximately $32.4 million and $233.1 million, respectively. Additional
information about the City’s capital assets can be found in the Notes to Basic Financial Statements,
Note I11.D.

Net General Obligation Bonded Debt Limit

The City Charter limits bonded indebtedness for General Obligation bonds to 15 percent of the total
assessed valuation of all real and personal property within the City. The total assessed value of taxable
property on the City’s 2017-2018 tax roll was $177.0 billion, which results in a total debt limit of $27.0 billion.
As of June 30, 2018, the City had $347.3 million of Net General Obligation bonds outstanding which
represents approximately 1.3% of the General Obligation bonds debt limit.

General Obligation Bonds and Other Bond Ratings

The City’s current general obligation credit ratings are Aa1/AA+/AA+ from Moody’s Investors Service
(“Moody’s”), Standard & Poor's (“S&P”), and Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”), respectively. These credit ratings have
remained the same from the prior year, and the City continues to be one of the highest rated large cities
(with population over 250,000) in California.

Moody's credit rating for the City of San José Financing Authority, lease revenue bond Series 2003A,
2006A, 2013A, and 2013B is Aa2. Moody rated 2011A lease revenue bonds at Aa3. S&P and Fitch both
have an underlying rating of AA. The outlook for all the three agencies is stable.

For Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport, S&P currently has an underlying rating of A with
stable outlook, Moody’s currently has an underlying rating of A2 with stable outlook. Fitch currently has an
underlying rating on Airport Revenue Bonds at A- with stable outlook.

Sewer revenue bonds issued by the San Jose-Santa Clara Clean Water Financing Authority have current
underlying ratings of AAA by S&P and Fitch, and a rating of Aa2 by Moody's. The outlook for all three
agencies is stable.

Outstanding Debt

The City's debt service obligations include general obligation bonds, revenue bonds, lease revenue bonds,
and special assessment and special tax bonds.

During 2017-2018, the City’s outstanding long-term debt decreased by $244.2 million to $2.262 billion,
comprised of $982.3 million of governmental activities and $1.279 billion of business-type activities. The
balances at June 30, 2017 were $1.168 billion for governmental activities and $1.338 billion for business-
type activities, for a total of $2.506 billion. The decrease of $244.2 million is primarily due to the scheduled
debt service payments and redemption of the City of San José Financing Authority 2001A Bonds, 2001F
Bonds, and 2008F Bonds.
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The table below identifies the net changes in each category (in thousands):

As of As of Net
June 30,2018 June 30,2017 Change
Governmental Activities:
General obligation bonds $ 347530 $ 367,469 §  (19,939)
HUD Section 108 loan - 717 (717)
San José Financing Authority
Lease revenue bonds 505,519 561,102 (55,583)
Lease revenue bonds with
reimbursement agreement - 78,680 (78,680)
Revenue bonds with
pledge agreement - 26,005 (26,005)
Special assessmentbonds with limited
governmental commitment 129,228 134,467 (5,239)
Sub-total 982,277 1,168,440 (186,163)
Business-Type Activities:
Revenue bonds 1,277,755 1,331,448 (53,693)
State of CA-Revolving Fund Loan 1,772 6,125 (4,353)
Sub-total 1,279,527 1,337,573 (58,046)
Total: $ 2261804 $§ 2506013 § (244,209)

Additional information about the City’s long-term obligations appears in the Notes to Basic Financial
Statements, Note III.F.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET

o The City’s General Fund completed 2017-2018 with better operating financial results than expected
when the 2017-2018 Adopted Budget was developed. Although the local economic activity remains
strong, the City still faces fiscal challenges on a long-term basis to achieve a more desirable level of
budget stability while avoiding any reduction in services. In June 2018, the City Council approved a
balanced General Fund budget for fiscal year 2018-2019. Given the availability of one-time funding
and the modest funding made available, the Adopted 2018-2019 Budget follows City Council direction
to focus on targeted, strategic spending as well as savings for the future. The budget takes a multi-year
approach with one-time funding set aside in 2018-2019 to address the projected General Fund shortfall
in 2019-2020. It also maintains existing service levels, enhanced service delivery in limited areas, and
investment in infrastructure and technology. With limited resources, it is imperative that the City
continues to innovate and leverage resources to achieve its service delivery goals.

e The 2018-2019 Adopted Budget includes modest increases to staffing levels to support a variety of
activities and limited enhancements to other critical services. Overall, the level of staffing will increase
by a net 163 (a total of 46 positions are one-time funded), from 6,250 full-time equivalent positions in
the 2017-2018 Adopted Budget to 6,413 positions in the 2018-2019 Adopted Budget. This 2.6%
increase still leaves City staffing well below its peak of almost 7,500 positions in 2001-2002 and well
below the average of large cities.

e 2018-2019 redevelopment property tax revenues are forecast to be sufficient to pay debt service

obligations of the SARA. With the issuance of $1.7 billion of Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds in 2017-
2018 which refunded 23 series of tax allocation bonds and the City of San José Financing Authority’s
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Series 2001A Bonds and 2001F Bonds. The refunding put SARA into a “Sufficiency of Funds” situation,
improve its cash flow, and accelerate distribution of residual revenues to other taxing agencies including
the City.

As reported in the GASB 67/68 Report as of June 30, 2018 prepared by the actuary for the Police and
Fire Department Retirement Plan (“PFDRP”), the net position of the Defined Benefit Pension Plan was
73 percent of the total pension liability. The total pension liability was $4.534 billion, and the fiduciary
net position was $3.293 billion, resulting in a net pension liability of $1.241 billion.

As reported in the GASB 67/68 Report as of June 30, 2018 prepared by the actuary for the Federated
City Employees’ Retirement System (“FCERS”), the net position of the Defined Benefit Pension Plan
was 50 percent of the total pension liability. The total pension liability was $3.923 billion, and the
fiduciary net position was $1.973 billion, resulting in a net pension liability of $1.950 billion.

For funding purposes, as of June 30, 2017, the most recent actuarial valuation date, PFDRP’s
Postemployment Healthcare Benefits (OPEB) Plan had a 21 percent actuarial funded ratio for
postemployment healthcare benefits. The actuary reported total OPEB liability was $714.5 million and
the fiduciary net position was $149.7 million, resulting in net OPEB liability of $564.8 million.

For funding purposes, as of June 30, 2017, the most recent actuarial valuation date, FCERS’s
Postemployment Healthcare Benefit (OPEB) Plan had a 347 percent actuarial funded ratio for
postemployment healthcare benefits. The actuary reported total OPEB liability for postemployment
healthcare benefits was $766.8 million and the fiduciary net position was $260.4
million, resulting in a net OPEB liability of $506.4 million.

For 2018-2019, the City’s contribution rates for pension benefits and postemployment healthcare
benefits, as a percentage of payroll are as follows:

PFDRP ) FCERS ;)
Police  Police Fire Fire
Contribution Rates Tier1  Tier2 Tier1 Tier2 Tier1 Tier2 Tier2B
Retirement Pension 97.55% 13.71%  98.49% 15.13% 99.16%  8.28%  8.28%

Postemployment Healthcare Benefits  11.0%  11.0% @ 101% 101% @  7.2% 7.2% 7.2%

(1) The rates above are the Retirement Board adopted rates based on the June 30, 2017, actuarial valuations.

(2) Subsequent to the implementation of the revised Tier 2 pension benefits for sworn Police and Fire Tier 2 employees, the
City Manager exercised his discretion, pursuant to the Municipal Code, to terminate the defined benefit retiree healthcare
plan for these employees. Effective July 30, 2017, Police and Fire Tier 2 employees were no longer eligible for the defined
benefit retiree healthcare plan and, as such, will not make contributions to the plan. The City continues to pay its
contributions for the Tier 2 police and fire employees. Additional information about the City's Postemployment Healthcare
Benefits appears in the Notes to Basic Financial Statements, Note V. A.4 would not apply to FY 2018-2019.

On June 24, 2008, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 28332 amending Title 3 of the San José
Municipal Code to provide the City with the option to make lump sum prepayments of City required
contributions for pension benefits and postemployment healthcare benefits to PFDRP and FCERS. The
lump sum prepayment for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019 was calculated to be actuarially
equivalent to the biweekly payments that would otherwise have been the City’s required contributions
to the benefit pension plans and the postemployment healthcare plans. The Boards of Administration
for PFDRP and FCERS approved the actuarially determined prepayment amount of $183.1 million for
PFDRP, and $175.4 million for FCERS Tier 1 members. The prepayment for PFDRP and for FCERS
Tier 1 members was paid by the City in July 2018.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

Forward-Looking Statements

When used in this CAFR, the words or phrases “will likely result,” “are expected to,” “will continue,” “is
“anticipated, “estimate,” “project,” “forecast,” “expect,” “intend” and similar expressions identify “forward-
looking statements”, but are not the exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements in the CAFR.
Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those contemplated in such forward-looking statements. Any forecast is subject to such uncertainties.
Inevitably, some assumptions used to develop the forecasts will not be realized and unanticipated events
and circumstances may occur. Therefore, there are likely to be differences between forecasts and actual
results, and those differences may be material.

Readers are urged not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as
of the date of this CAFR. The City undertakes no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking
statements to reflect any event or circumstance that may arise after the date of the CAFR.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide our residents, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors
with a general overview of the City’s finances. All summaries of documents contained in this CAFR are
made subject to the provisions of such documents and do not purport to be complete statements of any or
all such provisions. Each reference in this CAFR to a document is qualified in its entirety by reference to
such document, which is on file with the City.

Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial
information should be addressed to the Director of Finance, 200 East Santa Clara Street, San José,
California 95113. Requests for documents may be directed to the City department designated in the CAFR
as the holder of a particular document or to the Director of Finance.
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($000's)
Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total
ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury $ 972,976 634,634 1,607,610
Receivables (net of allowances
for uncollectibles) 147,044 34,364 181,408
Due from outside agencies 185 - 185
Inventories 1,145 697 1,842
Notes receivable 10,020 - 10,020
Loans receivable (net of allowances
for uncollectibles) 296,913 - 296,913
Advances and deposits 532 2,816 3,348
Restricted assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury 93,177 70,007 163,184
Cash and investments held with fiscal agent 102,869 111,230 214,099
Other cash and investments 20,764 2,204 22,968
Receivables (net of allowances
for uncollectibles) - 4,903 4,903
Prepaid bond insurance costs
(net of accumulated amortization) 326 2,034 2,360
Long-term receivables from SARA 29,424 17,925 47,349
Other assets 50,715 220 50,935
Capital assets (net of accumulated
depreciation):
Nondepreciable 455,592 334,800 790,392
Depreciable 4,861,336 1,788,524 6,649,860
Total assets 7,043,018 3,004,358 10,047,376
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Loss on refundings of debt 721 8,616 9,337
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 824,288 109,303 933,591
Deferred outflows of resources related to other
postemployment benefits 50,616 7,163 57,779
Total deferred outflows of resources 875,625 125,082 1,000,707
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 46,557 32,583 79,140
Accrued liabilities 39,600 4,848 44,448
Interest payable 9,630 21,367 30,997
Due to outside agencies 484 - 484
Short-term notes payable 39,650 7,509 47,159
Unearned revenue 18,761 8,799 27,560
Advances, deposits, and reimbursable credits 8,515 4,968 13,483
Long-term payable to SARA 739 - 739
Loans payable - 10,000 10,000
Other liabilities 37,058 - 37,058
Long-term obligations:
Due within one year 112,957 46,521 159,478
Due in more than one year 1,121,008 1,265,673 2,386,681
Net pension liability 2,835,815 356,541 3,192,356
Net other postemployment benefits liability 957,581 113,684 1,071,265
Total liabilities 5,228,355 1,872,493 7,100,848
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 3,980 513 4,493
Deferred inflows of resources related to other
postemployment benefits 3,415 125 3,540
Total deferred inflows of resources 7,395 638 8,033
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 4,349,559 930,631 5,280,190
Restricted for:
Debt service 35,088 21,275 56,363
Capital projects 324,540 51,475 376,015
Community services 635,800 - 635,800
Public safety 5,031 - 5,031
Unrestricted (deficit) (2,667,125) 252,928 (2,414,197)
Total net position $ 2,682,893 1,256,309 3,939,202

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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($000's)
Net (Expense) Revenue and
Program Revenues Changes in Net Position
Fees, Fines, Operating Capital Grants
and Charges for Grants and and Governmental Business -Type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
Governmental activities:
General government $ 132,157 29,565 1,229 - (101,363) - (101,363)
Public safety 769,305 78,700 10,376 - (680,229) - (680,229)
Community services 329,222 88,895 64,043 - (176,284) - (176,284)
Sanitation 164,890 155,772 51 - (9,067) - (9,067)
Capital maintenance 494,007 66,257 38,239 97,441 (292,070) - (292,070)
Interest and fiscal charges 57,002 - - - (57,002) - (57,002)
Total governmental activities 1,946,583 419,189 113,938 97,441 (1,316,015) - (1,316,015)
Business -Type activities:
Norman Y. Mineta San José
International Airport 207,675 213,993 809 9,287 - 16,414 16,414
Wastewater Treatment System 203,272 252,722 85 5,009 - 54,544 54,544
Municipal Water System 49,156 48,615 - 2,066 - 1,525 1,525
Parking System 14,503 17,645 - - - 3,142 3,142
San José Clean Energy 1,116 - - - - (1,116) (1,116)
Total business-type activities 475,722 532,975 894 16,362 - 74,509 74,509
Total $ 2,422,305 952,164 114,832 113,803 (1,316,015) 74,509 (1,241,506)

General revenues:

Taxes and franchise fees:

Property and other taxes 461,964 - 461,964
Utility 120,234 - 120,234
Franchise 51,180 - 51,180
Transient occupancy 48,854 - 48,854
Business taxes 70,673 - 70,673
Sales taxes shared revenue 226,337 - 226,337
State of California in-lieu 551 - 551
Unrestricted interest and investment income 6,688 6,322 13,010
Other revenue 36,485 4,961 41,446
Transfers 5,769 (5,769) -

Total general revenues and transfers 1,028,735 5,514 1,034,249
Change in net position (287,280) 80,023 (207,257)

Net position - beginning, as previously reported 3,437,781 1,241,519 4,679,300
Change in accounting principles (467,608) (65,233) (532,841)
Net position - beginning, as restated 2,970,173 1,176,286 4,146,459
Net position - ending $ 2,682,893 1,256,309 3,939,202

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of San José
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018
($000's)

Low and Moderate
Income Housing

General Fund Housing Activities Asset
ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury $ 296,597 36,129 121,104
Receivables (net of allowance
for uncollectibles) 72,915 2,875 1,894
Due from outside agencies 185 - -
Due from other funds 1,797 - -
Notes receivable - - -
Loans receivables (net of allowance
for uncollectibles) 1,241 68,997 223,592
Advances and deposits 153 - -
Restricted assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury 1,308 45,545 -
Cash and investments held with fiscal agent 682 - -
Other cash and investments - - -
Advances to other funds 3,297 - -
Advances receivable from SARA 13,863 - 15,561
Other assets - 2,300 26,901
Total assets $ 392,038 155,846 389,052
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 9,001 2,858 1,190
Accrued salaries, wages, and payroll taxes 33,975 87 269
Due to other funds - - -
Due to outside agencies 372 - -
Short-term notes payable - - -
Unearned revenue 6,483 - -
Advances, deposits, and reimbursable credits 7 - -
Advances from other funds - - -
Long-term advances from SARA - - 739
Other liabilities 36,736 - -
Total liabilities 86,574 2,945 2,198
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 12,442 19,719 7,550
FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable 153 - -
Restricted 1,057 133,182 379,304
Committed 97,809 - -
Assigned 111,509 - -
Unassigned 82,494 - -
Total fund balances 293,022 133,182 379,304
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources
and fund balances $ 392,038 155,846 389,052

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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San José

Special Financing Nonmajor Total
Assessment Authority Debt Governmental Governmental
Districts Service Funds Funds
- 109 500,907 954,846
33,265 - 35,755 146,704
- - - 185
- - 2,300 4,097
- 10,000 20 10,020
- - 3,083 296,913
5 - 374 532
11,160 - 35,164 93,177
30,675 44,336 27,176 102,869
- - 20,283 20,283
- - - 3,297
- - - 29,424
- - 1,904 31,105
75,105 54,445 626,966 1,693,452
240 - 33,155 46,444
3 - 4,084 38,418
- - 4,097 4,097
- 112 - 484
- 39,650 - 39,650
- - 11,600 18,083
1,578 - 6,930 8,515
- 3.297 - 3,297
- - - 739
317 - 5 37,058
2,138 43,059 59,871 196,785
30,950 - 1,730 72,391
- - - 153
42,017 11,386 412,676 979,622
- - 57,892 155,701
- - 94,797 206,306
- - - 82,494
42,017 11,386 565,365 1,424,276
75,105 54,445 626,966 1,693,452
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City of San José
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet
to the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2018
($000's)

Total fund balances-governmental funds (Page 27)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different
because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and
therefore are not reported in the funds. These assets consist of:

Land $ 409,022
Construction in progress 46,570
Infrastructure assets 11,543,605
Other capital assets 2,097,892
Accumulated depreciation (8,785,937)

Total capital assets

Other long-term assets associated with the New Market Tax Credit (NMTC) financing
program are not current financial resources, therefore, are not reported in
governmental funds.

Long-term receivables are not available to pay for current period expenditures and,
therefore, are reported as deferred inflows of resources in governmental funds.

Prepaid bond insurance costs are expended in governmental funds when paid,
however, such costs are capitalized and amortized over the life of the
corresponding bonds for purposes of the statement of net position.

Refunding of debt reported as deferred outflows/inflows of resources are not financial
resources, therefore are not reported in the funds. Such costs are capitalized
and amortized over the life of the corresponding bonds for purposes of
the statement of net position.

Special assessments are reported as revenues when levied in government-wide
financial statements. In governmental funds, these assessments are reported as
deferred inflows of resources since they are not available.

Interest payable on long-term debt does not require the use of current financial
resources and, therefore, interest payable is generally not accrued as a liability
in the balance sheet of governmental funds.

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of public
works support, employee benefits, and vehicle maintenance and
operations to individual funds. The assets and liabilities are included
in governmental activities in the statement of net position.

Long-term obligations are not due and payable in the current period and therefore
are not reported in the funds. Those liabilities consist of:

Bonds, loan payables, and lease-purchase agreements $  (998,788)
Accrued vacation, sick leave and compensatory time (73,285)
Estimated liability for self-insurance (135,326)
Other (23,323)

Total long-term obligations

Net pension liability and pension related deferred outflows and inflows of resources
are not due in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.
These amounts consist of:

Net pension liability $ (2,835,815)
Deferred outflows of resources 824,288
Deferred inflows of resources (3,980)

Other postemployment benefits liability and related deferred outflows and inflows of resources
are not due in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.
These amounts consist of:

Net other postemployment benefits liability $ (957,581)
Deferred outflows of resources 50,616
Deferred inflows of resources (3,415)

Net position of governmental activities (Page 24)

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of San José
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

($000's)
Low and
Moderate Income
General Fund Housing Activities Housing Asset
REVENUES
Taxes and special assessments $ 568,391 - -
Sales taxes shared revenue 226,337 - -
Licenses, permits, and fines 74,859 - -
Intergovernmental 11,773 8,142 -
Charges for current services 52,303 - -
Rent - - -
Investment income 2,228 3,621 26,558
Other revenue 42,905 8,226 9,335
Total revenues 978,796 19,989 35,893
EXPENDITURES
Current:
General government 100,732 - -
Public safety 593,162 - -
Community services 139,593 14,398 7,689
Sanitation 4,148 - -
Capital maintenance 120,158 - -
Capital outlay 14,264 - -
Debt service:
Principal 39,119 - -
Interest and fiscal charges 2,184 - -
Total expenditures 1,013,360 14,398 7,689
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (34,564) 5,591 28,204
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from SARA refunding - - -
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent - - -
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 38,187 - -
Transfers in 11,409 - 1,237
Transfers out (34,842) (69) (2,469)
Total other financing sources (uses) 14,754 (69) (1,232)
Net change in fund balances (19,810) 5,622 26,972
Fund balances - beginning 312,832 127,660 352,332
Fund balances - ending $ 293,022 133,182 379,304

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

30



San José

Special Financing Nonmajor Total
Assessment Authority Debt Governmental Governmental
Districts Service Funds Funds

25,359 - 185,065 778,815
- - - 226,337

- - - 74,859

- - 74,287 94,202

- - 226,742 279,045

- - 53,415 53,415
392 555 4,799 38,153
1,175 15,245 7,941 84,827
26,926 15,800 552,249 1,629,653
- - 14,544 115,276

- - 1,606 594,768

- - 105,138 266,818

- - 153,877 158,025
18,685 - 154,253 293,096
801 - 66,246 81,311
5,305 121,460 20,098 185,982
8,570 29,833 16,970 57,557
33,361 151,293 532,732 1,752,833
(6,435) (135,493) 19,517 (123,180)
- 92,620 - 92,620
- (1,705) - (1,705)

- - - 38,187
15,006 45,012 57,137 129,801
(6,287) (17,538) (65,476) (126,681)
8,719 118,389 (8,339) 132,222
2,284 (17,104) 11,178 9,042
39,733 28,490 554,187 1,415,234
42,017 11,386 565,365 1,424,276
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City of San José
Reconciliation of the Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
($000's)

Net change in fund balances--total governmental funds (Page 31) $ 9,042

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Capital outlays are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. However, in the
statement of activities, the cost of capital assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives as depreciation expense. In the current period, these amounts are:

Capital outlay $ 81,311
Depreciation expense (219,297)
Excess of depreciation expense over capital outlay (137,986)

The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets
(i.e. sales, retirements, trade-ins, donations)
Donated assets $ 37,824
Transfers from SARA 316
Proceeds from sale of capital assets (38,187)

Gain on disposal of assets 16,817
16,770

Decrease in long-term receivables associated with lease, pledge revenue, and
reimbursement arrangements from the private purpose trust fund are not current
financial resources and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds. (102,610)

Prepaid bond insurance costs are expended in governmental funds when paid, however, are
capitalized and amortized over the life of the corresponding bonds for the purposes
of the statement of activities. (19)

Amortization of deferred outflows of resources resulting from the deferred
loss on refunding of bonds (185)

Repayment of long-term obligation principal is reported as an expenditure in
governmental funds and, thus, has the effect of reducing fund balance because
current financial resources have been used. For the government-wide statements,
however, the principal payments reduce the liabilities in the statement of net
position and do not result in an expense in the statement of activities. The City's
long-term obligations were reduced because principal payments were made to
bondholders and HUD. 184,192

Accrued interest payable on long-term debt is reported in the government-wide
statement of activities, but does not require the use of current financial resources.
Amortization of bond premiums and discounts should be expensed as a component
of interest expense on the statement of activities. This amount represents the change
in accrued interest payable and the amortization of bond premiums and discounts
not reported in governmental funds.
Decrease in accrued interest payable $ 474
Amortization of premiums and discounts on bonds issued 1,971
Total net interest expense and amortization of discount/premium 2,445

Because some revenues will not be collected for several months after the City's fiscal year
end, they are not considered "available revenues" and are reported as deferred inflows
of resources in the governmental funds. (4,269)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of public works
support, employee benefits, and vehicle maintenance and operations to individual
funds. The change in net position is included in governmental activities in the
statement of activities. (641)
Some items reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures
in governmental funds. These activities consist of:
Net decrease in vacation, sick leave, and compensatory time $ 897
Net decrease in estimated liability for self-insurance 9,451
Net decrease in other liabilities 2,324
Total expenditures 12,672

Changes to net pension liability and pension related deferred outflows and inflows of

resources do not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore,

are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. (260,099)
Changes to other postemployment benefits liability and related deferred outflows and inflows of

resources do not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore,
are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. (6,592)

Change in net position of governmental activities (Page 25) $ (287,280)

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of San José
Statement of Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2018

($000's)
Enterprise Funds
Norman Y. Mineta
San José Wastewater Municipal Internal
International Treatment Water Parking San José Service
Airport System System System Clean Energy Total Funds
ASSETS
Current assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury $ 149,223 425,612 24,752 35,047 - 634,634 18,130
Receivables (net of allowance
for uncollectibles) 18,881 5,764 9,411 308 - 34,364 340
Prepaid expenses, advances and deposits 126 - - - - 126 -
Inventories - 697 - - - 697 1,145
Total unrestricted current assets 168,230 432,073 34,163 35,355 - 669,821 19,615
Restricted assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury 59,817 8,070 - 2,120 - 70,007 -
Cash and investments held with fiscal agent 102,144 - - - 9,086 111,230 -
Other cash and investments - 2,204 - - - 2,204 481
Receivables (net of allowances
for uncollectibles) 4,903 - - - - 4,903 -
Prepaid expenses, advances and deposits 94 - - - - 94 -
Total restricted assets 166,958 10,274 - 2,120 9,086 188,438 481
Total current assets 335,188 442,347 34,163 37,475 9,086 858,259 20,096
Noncurrent assets:
Prepaid bond insurance
(net of accumulated amortization) 2,034 - - - - 2,034 -
Advances and deposits 2,816 - - - - 2,816 -
Long-term receivable from SARA - - - 17,925 - 17,925 -
Capital assets (net of accumulated
depreciation):
Nondepreciable 97,159 211,402 3,235 23,004 - 334,800 -
Depreciable 1,178,503 506,470 70,323 33,228 - 1,788,524 5,776
Total noncurrent assets 1,280,512 717,872 73,558 74,157 - 2,146,099 5,776
Total assets 1,615,700 1,160,219 107,721 111,632 9,086 3,004,358 25,872
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Loss on refundings of debt 8,616 - - - - 8,616 -
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 27,068 71,897 7.789 2,549 - 109,303 -
Deferred outflows of resources related to other
postemployment benefits 1,754 4,801 469 139 - 7,163 -
Total deferred outflows of resources $ 37,438 76,698 8,258 2,688 - 125,082 -

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of San José
Statement of Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2018

($000's)
Enterprise Funds
Norman Y. Mineta
San José Wastewater Municipal Internal
International Treatment Water Parking San José Service
Airport System System System Clean Energy Total Funds
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 4,304 23,708 2,953 1,160 130 32,255 113
Accrued liabilities 1,223 3,110 318 141 56 4,848 1,182
Interest payable 1 90 - - - 91 -
Short-term notes payable 7,509 - - - - 7,509 -
Accrued vacation, sick leave and
compensatory time 1,739 3,768 203 188 16 5,914 -
Estimated liability for self-insurance 634 469 142 - - 1,245 -
Advances and deposits payable 1,584 - - 92 - 1,676 -
Unearned revenue 7,340 - - - - 7,340 678
Loans payable - 1,772 - - - 1,772 -
Total current liabilities unrestricted 24,334 32,917 3,616 1,581 202 62,650 1,973
Current liabilities payable
from restricted assets:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 328 - - - - 328 -
Interest payable 21,196 80 - - - 21,276 -
Unearned revenue 1,459 - - - - 1,459 -
Due to other funds - - - - 0 - -
Current portion of bonds payable, net 32,500 5,090 - - - 37,590 -
Total current liabilities payable from
restricted assets 55,483 5,170 - - - 60,653 -
Total current liabilities 79,817 38,087 3,616 1,581 202 123,303 1,973
Noncurrent liabilities:
Accrued vacation, sick leave and
compensatory time 590 611 - - - 1,201 3,243
Estimated liability for self-insurance 2,388 2,676 753 - - 5,817 -
Advance contributions from participating
agencies - 1,639 - - - 1,639 -
Advances, deposits, and reimbursable
credits - - 1,653 - - 1,653 -
Loans payable - - - - 10,000 10,000 -
Notes payable - 18,490 - - - 18,490 -
Bonds payable (net of premium/discount) 1,229,409 10,756 - - - 1,240,165 -
Net pension liability 108,167 221,898 19,000 7,476 - 356,541 -
Net other postemployment benefits liability 28,086 76,245 7,453 1,900 - 113,684 -
Total noncurrent liabilities 1,368,640 332,315 28,859 9,376 10,000 1,749,190 3,243
Total liabilities 1,448,457 370,402 32,475 10,957 10,202 1,872,493 5,216
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 128 338 36 11 - 513 -
Deferred inflows of resources related to other
postemployment benefits 31 84 8 2 - 125 -
Total deferred inflows of resources 159 422 44 13 - 638 -
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 100,587 700,254 73,558 56,232 - 930,631 5,776
Restricted for debt service 17,015 2,140 - 2,120 - 21,275 -
Restricted for capital projects and other
agreements 44,999 6,476 - - - 51,475 -
Unrestricted 41,921 157,223 9,902 44,998 (1,116) 252,928 14,880
Total net position $ 204,522 866,093 83,460 103,350 (1,116) 1,256,309 20,656
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City of San José
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
($000's)

Enterprise Funds

Norman Y. Mineta

San José Wastewater Municipal Internal
International Treatment Water Parking San José Service
Airport System System System Clean Energy Total Funds
OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 70,820 172,690 48,615 17,645 - 309,770 131,143
Rentals and concessions 22,375 11,335 - - - 33,710 -
Service connection, engineering
and inspection 65,290 4,572 - - - 69,862 -
Operating contributions from participating agencies - 63,276 - - - 63,276 -
Other 10,096 849 - - - 10,945 -
Total operating revenues 168,581 252,722 48,615 17,645 - 487,563 131,143
OPERATING EXPENSES
Operations and maintenance 73,816 135,230 44,029 4,289 360 257,724 131,829
General and administrative 25,118 37,572 2,304 8,037 723 73,754 -
Depreciation 47,486 29,226 2,823 1,679 - 81,214 2,631
Materials and supplies - 537 - 498 33 1,068 -
Total operating expenses 146,420 202,565 49,156 14,503 1,116 413,760 134,460
Operating income (loss) 22,161 50,157 (541) 3,142 (1,116) 73,803 (3,317)
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Passenger facility charges 27,048 - - - - 27,048 -
Customer facility charges 18,364 - - - - 18,364 -
Operating grants 809 - - - - 809 -
Investment income 2,842 3,105 186 189 - 6,322 128
Interest expense (61,305) (656) - - - (61,961) -
Bond issuance costs 50 - - - - 50 -
Contributions for maintenance reserves - 85 - - - 85 -
Loss on disposal of capital assets - (51) - - - (51) (101)
Gain on loan reinstatement from SARA - - - 3,590 - 3,590 -
Other revenues, net 994 140 105 132 - 1,371 -
Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) (11,198) 2,623 291 3,911 - (4,373) 27
Income (loss) before capital contributions
and transfers 10,963 52,780 (250) 7,053 (1,116) 69,430 (3,290)
Capital contributions 9,287 5,009 2,066 - 16,362 -
Transfers in 220 - - 31 - 251 2,850
Transfers out - (2,468) (1,040) (2,512) - (6,020) (201)
Changes in net position 20,470 55,321 776 4,572 (1,116) 80,023 (641)
Net position - beginning, as previously reported 196,589 857,377 87,827 99,726 - 1,241,519 21,297
Change in accounting principles (12,537) (46,605) (5,143) (948) - (65,233) -
Net position - beginning, as restated 184,052 810,772 82,684 98,778 - 1,176,286 21,297
Net position - ending $ 204,522 866,093 83,460 103,350 (1,116) 1,256,309 20,656

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers and users
Cash received from interfund services provided
Payments to suppliers
Payments for employees
Other receipts
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfer from other funds
Transfer to other funds
Operating grants
Payments from other funds
Decrease in long-term receivable from SARA
Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital
and related financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Passenger facility charges received
Customer facility charges received
Capital grants received
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Proceeds from commercial paper
Proceeds from line of credit
Principal payment on commercial paper
Principal paid on debt
Bond issuance cost paid
Interest paid on debt
Advances and deposits returned
Net cash provided by (used in) capital
and related financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sales and maturities of
investments

Purchase of investments

Interest received

Land and building rentals
Net cash provided by investing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning
Cash and cash equivalents - ending

City of San José
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
($000's)

Enterprise Funds

Norman Y. Mineta

San José Wastewater Municipal Internal
International Treatment Water Parking San José Service
Airport System System System Clean Energy Total Funds
$ 168,106 215,764 47,377 17,752 - 448,999 -
- - - - - - 131,039
(60,296) (65,860) (35,464) (8,555) (334) (170,509) (108,990)
(29,723) (86,676) (8,662) (3,014) (580) (128,655) (24,622)
1,733 37,883 - - - 39,616 -
79,820 101,111 3,251 6,183 (914) 189,451 (2,573)
- - - 31 - 31 2,850
- (2,468) (1,040) (2,512) - (6,020) (201)
809 - - - - 809 -
- - 166 - - 166 -
- - - 6,324 - 6,324 -
809 (2,468) (874) 3,843 - 1,310 2,649
27,915 - - - - 27,915 -
18,211 - - - - 18,211 -
10,535 351 - - - 10,886 -
(26,610) (108,742) (1,681) (5,380) - (142,413) (892)
- - - - 10,000 10,000 -
- 18,490 - - - 18,490 -
(17,952) - - - - (17,952) -
(41,900) (9,498) - - - (51,398) -
(150) - - - (150) -
(62,113) (781) - - - (62,894) -
(22) - - - - (22) -
(92,086) (100,180) (1,681) (5,380) 10,000 (189,327) (892)
39,291 - - - - 39,291 -
(39,291) - - - - (39,291) -
2,972 2,653 148 189 - 5,962 127
- 160 - - - 160 -
2,972 2,813 148 189 - 6,122 127
(8,485) 1,276 844 4,835 9,086 7,556 (689)
276,006 434,610 23,908 32,332 - 766,856 19,300
$ 267,521 435,886 24,752 37,167 9,086 774,412 18,611

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation
Other nonoperating revenues
Decrease (increase) in:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses, advances and deposits
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued salaries, wages, and payroll
Accrued vacation, sick leave
and compensatory time
Estimated liability for self-insurance
Unearned revenue
Net pension liability, deferred outflows and
inflows of pension related resources
Net other postemployment benefit liability, deferred
outflows and inflows of postemployment benefits resources
Advances and deposits payable

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
to the statement of net position:

Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury
Unrestricted
Restricted
Cash and investments held with fiscal agent
Other cash and investments
Cash and cash equivalents

Noncash noncapital, capital and related financing,
and investing activities:

Disposal of capital assets

Capital contributions from developers

Amortization of bond discount/premium, and prepaid
bond insurance costs

Amortization of deferred outflows/inflows of resources
related to bond refundings

Change in capital related payables

Change in capital related receivables

Change in fair value of investments

City of San José
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
($000's)

Enterprise Funds

Norman Y. Mineta

San José Wastewater Municipal Internal
International Treatment Water Parking San José Service
Airport System System System Clean Energy Total Funds
$ 22,161 50,157 (541) 3,142 (1,116) 73,803 (3,317)
47,486 29,226 2,823 1,679 - 81,214 2,631
1,733 - 105 132 - 1,970 -
(5,478) 925 (1,344) (25) - (5,922) (103)
- - - - - - (162)
@ - - - - @ -
(1,143) (2,034) (193) 600 130 (2,640) (1,247)
- 131 15 52 56 254 -
- (315) 16 31 16 (252) (227)
169 (215) 116 - - 70 -
5,754 - - - - 5754 (148)
9,193 23,819 2,310 606 - 35,928 -
(200) (583) (56) (35) - (874) -
147 - - 1 - 148 -
$ 79,820 101,111 3,251 6,183 (914) 189,451 (2,573)
$ 149,223 425,612 24,752 35,047 - 634,634 18,130
59,817 8,070 - 2,120 - 70,007 -
58,481 - - - 9,086 67,567 -
- 2,204 - - - 2,204 481
$ 267,521 435,886 24,752 37,167 9,086 774,412 18,611
$ - 51 - - - 51 -
- 4,658 2,066 - - 6,724 -
(6,004) 125 - - - (5,879) -
963 - - - - 963 -
6,120 - - - - 6,120 -
1,249 - - - - 1,249 -
(518) - - - - (518) -

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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($000's)
Pension
Trust Private Purpose Agency
Funds Trust Funds Fund
ASSETS
Current assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments held
in City Treasury $ - 172 3,845
Cash and investments - 14,870 -
Investments of retirement plans:
Investments:
Fixed income 1,716,019 - -
Collective short-term investments 239,038 - -
Absolute return 471,373 - -
Global equity 2,125,530 - -
Private equity 363,487 - -
International currency contracts, nel (2,716) - -
Global tactical asset 12,179 - -
Private debt 288,043 - -
Real assets 766,283 - -
Total investments of retirement systems 5,979,236 - -
Receivables:
Accrued investment income 18,117 - 21
Employee contributions 2,718 - -
Employer contributions 6,196 - -
Other 17,791 1,941 -
Restricted cash and investments held with fiscal agent - 138,278 -
Total current assets 6,024,058 155,261 3,866
Noncurrent assets:
Advances to the City of San José - 739 -
Accrued interest - 984 -
Loans receivable, net - 4,215 -
Advances and deposits - 106 -
Property held for resale - 33,457 -
Capital assets:
Nondepreciable - 47,677 -
Depreciable, net 3,509 57,478 -
Total noncurrent assets 3,509 144,656 -
Total assets 6,027,567 299,917 3,866
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Loss on refundings of debt $ - 44,466

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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($000's)
Pension
Trust Private Purpose Agency
Funds Trust Funds Fund
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ - 3,129 -
Due to brokers 17,898 - -
Accrued interest payable - 23,183 -
Unearned revenue - 145 -
Other liabilities 4,368 7 3,866
Total current liabilities 22,266 26,464 3,866
Long-term liabilities:
Due within one year - 117,476 -
Due in more than one year - 1,674,637 -
Total noncurrent liabilities - 1,792,113 -
Total liabilities 22,266 1,818,577 3,866
NET POSITION
Held in trust for:
Employees' pension benefits 5,565,524 -
Employees' postemployment healthcare benefits 439,777 -
Redevelopment dissolution and other purposes - (1,474,194)
Total net position (deficit) $ 6,005,301 (1,474,194)

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

($000's)

Pension Private
Trust Purpose
ADDITIONS Funds Trust Funds
Redevelopment property tax revenues - 200,357
Investment income:
Interest 42,615 1,476
Dividends 33,966 -
Net rental income 56 305
Net change in fair value of plan investments 324,125 -
Investment expenses (30,387) -
Total investment income 370,375 1,781
Contributions:
Employer 372,261 -
Employees 76,014 -
Total contributions 448,275 -
Charges for current services - 298
Development fees - 152
Gain on sale of revenue participation - 22,697
Gain on sales of property and other assets - 1,914
Grant revenue - 4,208
Other - 3,194
Total additions 818,650 234,601
DEDUCTIONS
General and administrative 10,616 2,356
Project expenses - 689
Pass through amounts to the County of Santa Clara - 41,916
Depreciation - 2,077
Allowance for loan losses - 57
Interest on debt - 54,040
Health insurance premiums 57,410 -
Refunds of contributions 1,453 -
Retirement and other benefits:
Death benefits 25,072 -
Retirement benefits 373,505 -
Veba transfer 21,394 -
Total deductions 489,450 101,135
Change in net position 329,200 133,466
Net position restricted for pension,
postemployment healthcare benefits
and other purposes:
Beginning of year 5,676,101 (1,607,660)
End of year 6,005,301 (1,474,194)
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. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A. Reporting Entity

The City of San José, California (the “City”), was chartered on March 25, 1850, and has operated
under a Council-Manager form of government since 1916. The City has defined its reporting entity
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) in the United States of
America, which provide guidance for determining which governmental activities, organizations, and
functions should be included in the reporting entity. In evaluating how to define the City for financial
reporting purposes, management has considered all potential component units. The primary criteria
for including a potential component unit within the reporting entity are the governing body’s financial
accountability or whether the nature and significance of the relationship with the primary government
is misleading to exclude.

A primary government is considered to be financially accountable, if it appoints a voting majority of
an organization’s governing body and it is able to impose its will on the organization, or if there is a
potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial
burdens on the primary government. A primary government may also be financially accountable if an
organization is fiscally dependent on the primary government regardless of whether the organization
has a separately elected governing board, a governing board appointed by a higher level of
government, or a jointly appointed board, and there is a potential for the organization to provide
specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on the primary government. Based
upon the application of these criteria, the following is a brief description of each component unit
included within the City’s reporting entity. All such component units have been “blended” (or in the
case of the Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José reported as a
fiduciary fund) as though they are part of the primary government because the component unit’'s
governing body is substantially the same as the City’s primary government and there is a financial
benefit or burden relationship between the City and the component unit, management of the City has
operational responsibilities for the component unit, and/or the component units provide services
entirely, or almost entirely, to the City or otherwise exclusively, or almost exclusively, benefits the
City, even though it does not provide services directly to it, or the City is entirely or almost entirely
responsible for the repayment of the debt of the component unit.

e Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José — The Successor
Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José (the “SARA”) was created by State
statute, referred to in these notes as the Redevelopment Dissolution Law, to serve as a custodian
for the assets and to wind down the affairs of the SARA. The SARA is subject to the direction
and oversight of a board consisting of the Mayor and the other members of the City Council
(the”"SARA Board”).. The SARA is also, pursuant to the Redevelopment Dissolution Law, subject
to the direction and oversight of an Oversight Board. Through June 30, 2018, the Oversight
Board is comprised of seven member representatives from local government bodies: two
appointed by the Mayor; two appointed by the County of Santa Clara (the “County”); one
appointed by the County Superintendent of Education; one appointed by the Chancellor of
California Community Colleges; and one appointed by the largest special district taxing entity in
the Merged Project Area (currently the Santa Clara Valley Water District).

Beginning July 1, 2018, pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 34179(j), the individual
oversight boards within Santa Clara County no longer existed and were combined into one
county-wide Oversight Board. The county-wide Oversight Board as of July 1, 2018 is comprised
of seven member representatives with one member appointed by each of the following: County
Board of Supervisors, the city selection committee established pursuant to Section 50270 of the
Government Code, the independent special district selection committee established pursuant to
Section 56332 of the Government Code, the County Superintendent of Education, the Chancellor
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of the California Community Colleges, a public appointment made the County Board of
Supervisors, and the recognized employee organization representing the largest number of
successor agency employees in the county. The county-wide Oversight Board is staffed by the
County of Santa Clara Auditor-Controller and tasks have been delegated among the County
Finance Agency, the Office of the County Executive, the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, and
Office of the County Counsel.

In general, the SARA’s assets can only be used to pay enforceable obligations in existence at
the date of dissolution, February 1, 2012 (including the completion of any unfinished projects that
were subject to legally enforceable contractual commitments). The SARA is only allocated
revenue in the amount that is necessary to meet the enforceable obligations of the former
Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José (the “Agency”) each year until all enforceable
obligations of the Agency have been paid in full and all assets have been liquidated. Based upon
the nature of the SARA’s custodial role, the SARA is reported in a fiduciary fund (private purpose
trust fund).

San José — Santa Clara Clean Water Financing Authority — The San José — Santa Clara
Clean Water Financing Authority (the “Clean Water Financing Authority”) was created pursuant
to a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement between the City and the City of Santa Clara. The
purpose was to finance the acquisition of, and additions and improvements to the existing San
José — Santa Clara Water Pollution Control Plant (the “Plant”), currently known as the
San José — Santa Clara Regional Wastewater Facility (the “RWF”). The Clean Water Financing
Authority is governed by a five-member Board of Directors; three are members of the San José
City Council and two are members of the City Council of the City of Santa Clara. The Clean Water
Financing Authority and the cities of San José and Santa Clara entered into an Improvement
Agreement and subsequent amendments to the Improvement Agreement (the “Improvement
Agreement”), which requires each city to make base payments that are at least equal to each
city’s allocable share of debt service requirements of the Clean Water Financing Authority’s
outstanding revenue bonds. Under the Improvement Agreement, the City of San José is entirely
responsible for the repayment of the Clean Water Financing Authority’s outstanding revenue
bonds. The Clean Water Financing Authority is blended in the Wastewater Treatment System
Enterprise Fund for financial reporting purposes.

City of San José Financing Authority — The City of San José Financing Authority (the
“Financing Authority”) was created by a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement between the City
and the Agency. The Financing Authority was created for the purpose of facilitating the financing
of public improvements and facilities within the City and is authorized to issue bonds for this
purpose. The Financing Authority is governed by an 11-member Governing Board, which consists
of the members of the City Council. The Financing Authority is blended in the San José Financing
Authority Debt Service Fund for financial reporting purposes.

San José Diridon Development Authority — The San José Diridon Development Authority (the
“Diridon Authority”) was created in March 2011 by a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement
between the City and the Agency. The Diridon Authority was created for the purposes of
overseeing the development of properties within the area of the City surrounding the San José
Diridon Station, and is authorized to issue bonds for this purpose. The Diridon Authority is
governed by an 11-member Governing Board, which consists of the members of the City Council.
The Diridon Authority did not have any activity in fiscal year 2017-18.

Separate financial reports for City departments and component units for the fiscal year 2017-18,
containing additional information and more detailed information regarding financial position, changes
in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows, are available from the City’s Director of
Finance, 200 East Santa Clara Street; 13" Floor, San José, CA 95113-1905, for the following:
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. Federated City Employees’ Retirement System (the “FCERS”)

o Police and Fire Department Retirement Plan (the “PFDRP”)

. Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José
. Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport (the “Airport”)

o San José — Santa Clara Clean Water Financing Authority
B. Financial Statement Presentation

Government-wide Financial Statements. The government-wide financial statements, i.e. the
statement of net position and the statement of activities, display information about the primary
government and its component units. These statements include the financial activities of the overall
government, except for fiduciary funds or component units that are fiduciary in nature. Eliminations
have been made to prevent the double counting of internal activities. For example, the direct expense
charges based on actual use are not eliminated, whereas indirect expense allocations made in the
funds are eliminated. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type
activities of the City. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes,
intergovernmental revenues and other non-exchange transactions, are reported separately from
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees charged to external parties.

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues
for each business-type activity of the City and each function of the City’s governmental activities.
Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a business-type activity or
governmental function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular activity or function.
Program revenues include 1) fees, fines and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services
offered by the programs and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meet the operational or
capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues,
including all taxes, are presented as general revenues.

Fund Financial Statements. The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s
funds, including its fiduciary funds. Separate statements for each fund category, such as
governmental, proprietary and fiduciary, are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements
are on the major governmental and enterprise funds of the City and are reported separately in the
accompanying financial statements. All remaining governmental funds are aggregated and reported
as nonmajor funds in the accompanying financial statements.

Fund accounting is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management by
segregating transactions related to certain government functions or activities. A fund is a separate
accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all revenues and
expenditures necessary to carry out basic governmental activities of the City that are not
accounted for through other funds.

The Housing Activities Fund is a special revenue fund that accounts for all of the City’s
affordable housing activities funded by federal and state grants, as well as various fees. Prior to
the dissolution of redevelopment agencies, the Housing Activities Fund accounted for all of the
City’s affordable housing activities, including the 20% redevelopment property tax revenue (i.e.
former tax increment) set-aside for low and moderate income housing and related expenditures.
Upon dissolution of the Agency and the City Council’s election to retain the housing activities
previously funded by the Agency, the City created a housing successor fund and transferred the
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assets and affordable housing activities funded by the Agency to the Low and Moderate Income
Housing Asset Fund.

The Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund is a special revenue fund that was
created to administer the housing assets and functions related to the Low and Moderate Income
Housing Program retained by the City following the dissolution of the Agency on February 1,
2012. This fund is primarily funded by loan repayment program income generated from the former
Agency’s housing assets.

The Special Assessment Districts Fund is a capital project fund that accounts for the capital
project and debt activities related to debt issued to finance public improvements benefiting
properties against which special assessments or special taxes are levied.

The San José Financing Authority Debt Service Fund is a debt service fund that accounts for
the debt activities related to capital projects funded with Financing Authority debt.

The City reports the following major enterprise funds:

The Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport Fund accounts for the activities of the
City owned commercial service and general aviation airport.

The Wastewater Treatment System Fund accounts for the financing, construction and
operations of the Plant, the regional water reclamation program (known as South Bay Water
Recycling), and the San José Sewage Collection System and the Clean Water Financing
Authority.

The Municipal Water System Fund accounts for the operations of the five water system
operating districts: North San José, Evergreen, Coyote, Edenvale, and Alviso.

The Parking System Fund accounts for the operations of the City owned parking garage
facilities, parking lots, and parking meters located within the City.

The San José Clean Energy Fund accounts for the City’'s Community Choice Energy program
known as San José Clean Energy (“SJCE”), which allows the City to procure electricity for the
City and businesses and residents in San José with more renewable energy options.

The City also reports the following types of funds:

The Internal Service Funds are used to account for the public works support services provided
to City-wide capital programs; the cost of operating an automotive maintenance facility used by
other City departments; and employee benefits including medical, vision, dental, and
unemployment insurance costs on a cost-reimbursement basis.

The Pension Trust Funds account for the accumulated resources to be used for retirement
annuity and postemployment healthcare payments to members of the FCERS and the PFDRP,
collectively, the “Retirement Systems”.

The Private Purpose Trust Funds account for the custodial responsibilities that are assigned to
the SARA with the passage of the Redevelopment Dissolution Law and for the James Lick Fund,
which holds resources in trust for the support of the EMQ Families First Agency (a.k.a. Eastfield
Ming Quong).

The Agency Fund accounts for assets held by the City in a custodial capacity with respect to the
San José Arena.
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C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

The basis of accounting determines when transactions are reported in the financial statements. The
government-wide, proprietary and fiduciary funds (excluding agency funds) financial statements are
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
Agency funds do not have a measurement focus but are reported using the accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities
are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Non-exchange transactions, in
which the City gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange,
include property and sales taxes, grants, entitlements and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue
from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenues from
sales and use, transient occupancy and utility user taxes are recognized when the underlying
transactions take place. Revenues from grants, entittements and donations are recognized in the
fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.

Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and
modified accrual basis of accounting. This focus is on the determination of, and changes in financial
resources, and generally only current assets and current liabilities are included in the balance sheet.
Revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they become both measurable and
available to finance expenditures of the fiscal period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues
as available if they are collected within sixty days after the end of the current fiscal period.
Expenditures are generally recorded when a liability is incurred. However, principal and interest on
long-term debt and certain estimated liabilities, such as compensated absences and self-insurance
claims, are recorded when payment is due.

In governmental funds, revenues from taxes, franchise fees, investment income, state and federal
grants and charges for services associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be
susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues in the current period. All other
revenue items are considered measurable and available only when cash is received by the City.

Proprietary funds distinguish between operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal
operating revenues of the City’s enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services. In
addition, the Wastewater Treatment System Fund’s on-going contributions from other participating
agencies for their allocation of the Plant's operating and maintenance expenses, their share of debt
service, and other commitments towards the Plant’s improvements are also included as operating
revenues. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services,
administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting
this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Under the terms of grant agreements, the City funds certain programs by a combination of specific
cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants and general revenues. Thus, when program
expenses are incurred, there are both restricted and unrestricted net position available to finance the
program. It is the City’s policy to first apply restricted cost-reimbursement grant resources to such
programs, followed by restricted categorical block grants, and then by unrestricted general revenues.

D. Use of Estimates

A number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of revenues,
expenditures/expenses, assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities were used to prepare these financial statements
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Actual
results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.
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E. New Pronouncements

During the year ended June 30, 2018, the City implemented the following Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (the “GASB”) Statements:

In June 2015, the GASB issued Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (other postemployment benefits or OPEB). This
statement replaces the requirements of Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by
Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended, and No. 57, OPEB
Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans. The scope of this statement
addresses accounting and financial reporting for OPEB that is provided to the employees of state
and local governmental employers. The GASB Statement No. 75 requires the liability for OPEB
obligations, known as the net OPEB liability (NOL), to be recognized on the Statement of Net Position.
In addition, an OPEB expense is to be recognized in the Statement of Activities and the statement of
changes in net position of proprietary and fiduciary funds. The OPEB expense in GASB Statement
No. 75 is no longer equal to the annual required contribution and has shorter amortization periods.
There is a recognition of OPEB expense that incorporates deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB over a defined, closed period, rather than a choice
between an open or closed period. For defined benefit OPEB, this statement identifies the methods
and assumptions that are required to be used to project benefit payments, discount projected benefit
payments to their actuarial present value, and attribute that present value to periods of employee
service. This statement requires that the notes to financial statements of a single employer that
sponsors an OPEB plan include descriptive information, such as the types of benefits provided and
the number and classes of employees covered by the benefit terms. This statement also requires
that a single employer that sponsors an OPEB plan to present in Required Supplementary
Information the sources of changes in the net OPEB liability and the components of the net OPEB
liability and related ratios.

As of July 1, 2017, the City restated the beginning net position to record the beginning deferred OPEB
contributions and net OPEB liability as follows (dollars in thousands):

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total
Net position - beginning, as previously reported $ 3,437,781 $ 1,241,519 $ 4,679,300
Change in accounting principles (467,608) (65,233) (532,841)
Net Position - beginning, as restated $ 2,970,173 $ 1,176,286 $ 4,146,459

In March 2016, the GASB issued Statement No. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements. This
statement requires that a government that receives resources pursuant to an irrevocable split-interest
agreement recognize assets, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources at the inception of the
agreement. An irrevocable split-interest agreement is one type of split-interest agreement used by
donors to provide resources to two or more beneficiaries, including governments. Under an
irrevocable split-interest agreement, the donor does not reserve, or confer to another person, the
right to terminate the agreement at will and have the donated resources returned to the donor or a
third party. This statement requires that a government recognize assets representing its beneficial
interests in irrevocable split-interest agreements that are administered by a third party, if the
government controls the present service capacity of the beneficial interests. This statement requires
that a government recognize revenue when the resources become applicable to the reporting period.
The application of Statement No. 81 did not have any effect on City’s financial statements.

In March 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017. This statement addresses a
variety of topics including issues related to blending component units, goodwill, fair value
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measurement and application, and postemployment benefits (pensions and other postemployment
benefits [OPEB]). The application of Statement No. 85 did not have any effect on the City’s financial
statements.

In May 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues. This
statement provides guidance for transactions in which cash and other monetary assets acquired with
only existing resources, resources other than the proceeds of refunding debt, are placed in an
irrevocable trust for the sole purpose of extinguishing debt. This statement also improves accounting
and financial reporting for prepaid insurance on debt that is extinguished and notes to financial
statements for debt that is defeased in substance. The application of Statement No. 86 did not have
any effect on the City’s financial statements.

The City is currently analyzing its accounting practices to determine the potential impact on the
financial statements for the following GASB Statements:

In November 2016, the GASB issued Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations. This
statement addresses accounting and financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations
(AROs). This statement establishes criteria for determining the timing and pattern of recognition of a
liability and a corresponding deferred outflow of resources for AROs, requires the measurement of
an ARO to be based on the best estimate of the current value of outlays expected to be incurred, and
requires the current value of a government’s AROs to be adjusted for the effects of general inflation
or deflation at least annually. Application of Statement No. 83 is effective for the City’s fiscal year
ending June 30, 2019.

In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. This statement establishes
criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments and describes four fiduciary
funds that should be reported, if applicable: (1) pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds, (2)
investment trust funds, (3) private purpose trust funds, and (4) custodial funds. The statement also
provides for recognition of a liability to the beneficiaries in a fiduciary fund when an event has
occurred that compels the government to disburse fiduciary resources. Application of Statement
No. 84 is effective for the City’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2020.

In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. This statement increases the usefulness
of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities
for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources
or outflows of resources based on the payment provision of the contract. It establishes a single model
for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use
an underlying asset. Under this statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an
intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a
deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about
governments’ leasing activities. Application of Statement No. 87 is effective for the City’s fiscal year
ending June 30, 2021.

In April 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, Including
Borrowings and Direct Placements. This statement requires that additional essential information
related to debt be disclosed in notes to financial statements, including unused lines of credit, assets
pledged as collateral for the debt, terms specified in debt agreements related to significant events of
default with finance-related consequences, significant termination events with finance-related
consequencs, and significant subjective acceleration clauses. Application of Statement No. 88 is
effective for the City’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.

In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred Before the

End of a Construction Period. This statement requires that interest costs incurred before the end of
a construction period be recognized as an expense in the period in which the cost is incurred for
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financial statements prepared using the economic resources measurement focus. As a result, interest
cost incurred before the end of a construction period will not be included in the historical cost of a
capital asset reported in a business-type activity or enterprise fund. The City has updated the
Capitalized Interest policy to no longer capitalize interest for the Wastewater Treatment System Fund
which had an immaterial impact to the financial statements. Application of Statement No. 89 is
effective for the City’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2021, and will be applied to all remaining funds in
subsequent years.

In August 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests — an Amendment of
GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 61, to improve the consistency and comparability of reporting a
government’s majority equity interest in a legally separate organization and to improve the relevance
of financial statement information for certain component units. This statement requires that a
component unit in which a government has a 100 percent equity interest account for its assets,
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources at acquisition value at
the date the government acquired a 100 percent equity interest in the component unit. Application of
Statement No. 90 is effective for the City’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2020.

F. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and
Net Position or Equity

1. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Restricted and unrestricted pooled cash and investments held in the City Treasury and other
unrestricted investments, invested by the City Treasurer, are considered cash equivalents for
purposes of the statement of cash flows because the City’s cash management pool and funds
invested by the City Treasurer possess the characteristics of demand deposit accounts. Other
restricted and unrestricted investments with maturities less than three months at the time of purchase
are also considered cash equivalents for purposes of the statement of cash flows.

2. Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments Held in City Treasury

Most cash balances of the City’s funds and some of its component units are pooled and invested by
the City Treasurer unless otherwise dictated by legal or contractual requirements. Income and losses
arising from the investment activity of pooled cash are allocated to the participating funds and
component units on a monthly basis, based on their proportionate shares of the average weekly cash
balance.

3. Deposits and Investments

Investments are accounted for in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 72, Fair
Value Measurement and Application, the City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair
value hierarchy established by GAAP in the United States of America. The following levels indicate
the hierarchy of inputs used to measure fair value and the primary valuation methodologies used for
financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

e Level 1-Investments whose values are based on quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets
in active markets that a government can access at the measurement date.

e Level 2 - Investments whose values are based on inputs — other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 — that are observable for an asset, either directly or indirectly.

e Level 3 - Investments whose values are based on unobservable inputs for an asset and may
require a degree of professional judgment.
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Pooled Cash and Investments held in City Treasury. The City reports its investments held in the
City Treasury at fair value. The fair value is based primarily on quoted market information and using
pricing applications and models obtained from fiscal agents or other sources. Income from some
investments is assigned to the General Fund. The assignment of the income from these investments
is supported by legal or contractual provisions approved by the City Council. For the year ended June
30, 2018, the total investment income from these investments assigned and transferred to the
General Fund was approximately $1,327,000.

Retirement Systems. The Retirement Systems’ investment policies authorize various types of
investments. These investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on a national or
international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price on the last business day of the
fiscal year at current exchange rates, if applicable. Investments that do not have an established
market, such as private equity, commingled real estate funds and certain pooled fund investments,
are reported at estimated fair value based on the most recently available investor reports or audited
financial statements issued by the manager of those funds. The fund manager provides an estimated
unrealized gain/loss of the fund based on the most recently available audited financial statements
and other fund information. Purchases and sales of securities are reflected on the date of trade.
Investment income is recognized as earned. Rental income from real estate activity is recognized as
earned, net of expenses.

Other Investments. Non-pooled investments are generally carried at fair value. However,
investments in investment agreements are carried at cost. Income from non-pooled investments is
recorded based on the specific investments held by the fund. The investment income is recorded in
the fund that earned the income.

4. Inventories
Inventories of proprietary funds are reported at cost.
5. Loans Receivable, net

Long-term loans receivable, which consist of the principal amount of the loan plus accrued borrower’s
deferred interest is reported in the governmental fund statements with an offset to restricted fund
balance as resources are not available for expenditure. Long-term loans receivable reported in the
governmental activities on the government-wide statement of net position is not offset by unavailable
revenue as it is recorded on an accrual basis at its net realizable value based on an estimate of
uncollectible amounts for loan losses.

6. Special Assessment Districts

Special assessments are recorded as receivables when liens are placed on properties. Special
assessments not considered available are recorded as receivables and offset by deferred inflows of
resources in the governmental fund financial statements. In general, special assessment and special
tax bonds are fully secured by liens against the privately owned properties benefited by the
improvements for which the bonds were issued. There is no reserve for delinquent receivables since
priority liens exist against the related properties and management believes full value will ultimately
be received by the City. Surplus funds remaining at the completion of a special assessment district
project are disposed of in accordance with the City Council’s resolutions and with the applicable laws
of the State of California. A liability is recorded for the balance remaining until a final legal
determination has been made.
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7. Advances and Deposits

Amounts deposited mainly in connection with eminent domain proceedings are reported as advances
and deposits. In the governmental fund statements, non-current portions of these are offset equally
by either a credit or a classification of fund balance in the nonspendable, restricted or committed
account. In the Business-type activities, the amount is related to the deposit with the insurance
company to fund the potential claims under the Airport's Owner Controller Insurance Program (OCIP).

8. Other Assets

Other assets primarily consist of real properties acquired outright and/or through foreclosure in
connection with the housing rehabilitation program and an asset associated with the City’s New
Market Tax Credit Financing (“NMTCF”) program. These assets are recorded at the lower of cost or
estimated net realizable value.

9. Prepaid Bond Insurance, Original Issue Discounts and Premiums, and Refundings

Prepaid bond insurance costs are amortized using the straight-line method over the life of the bonds.
Amortization of these balances is recorded as a component of operating expenses.

In the government-wide, proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements, long-term debt and
other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable financial statements. Bond
premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized on a straight line basis over the life of the bonds.
Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Gains or losses from
refunding of debt are reported as deferred outflows or inflows of resources and amortized over the
shorter of the life of the refunded debt or refunding debt. Amortization of these balances is recorded
as a component of interest expense.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts,
as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld
from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

10. Restricted Assets

Assets that are restricted for specific uses by bonded debt requirements, grant provisions or other
requirements are classified as restricted because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants
or agreements.

11. Capital Assets

Capital assets include land, buildings, improvements, vehicles and equipment, infrastructure, and all
other tangible and intangible assets that are used in operations and that have initial useful lives in
excess of one year. Capital assets are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type
activity columns in the government-wide statement of net position, the proprietary funds’ statements
of net position, and the private purpose trust fund’s statement of fiduciary net position.

Capital assets are defined as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $5,000 for general
capital assets and $100,000 for major infrastructure assets, and an estimated useful life in excess of
one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital
assets are recorded at acquisition value at the time received. Capital outlay is recorded as
expenditures of the governmental funds and as assets in the government-wide financial statements
to the extent the City’s capitalization threshold is met. For Norman Y. Mineta San José International
Airport Fund, interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets is reflected in the
capitalized value fo the asset constructed, net of interest earned on the investment proceeds of
taxable and tax-exempt debt over the same period. For the Wastewater Treatment System Fund,
interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period is recognized as an expense in the
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period in which the cost is incurred for financial statements prepared using the economic resources
measurement. Amortization of assets acquired under capital leases is based on the shorter of the
lease term, when the lease does not transfer ownership or include a bargained purchase option or
the estimated useful life of the asset and is included in depreciation.

Buildings, improvements, infrastructure, vehicles and equipment, and furniture and fixtures are
depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings 5 — 40 years
Improvements, other than buildings 10 - 50 years
Infrastructure 25 - 50 years
Vehicles and equipment 2 - 40 years
Furniture and fixtures 10 years

Capital assets which are used for general governmental purposes and are not available for
expenditure are accounted for and reported in the government-wide financial statements. Capital
assets that meet the definition of the major infrastructure networks or extend the life of existing
infrastructure networks are capitalized as infrastructure. Infrastructure networks include roads,
bridges, drainage systems, and lighting systems.

12. Compensated Absences — Accrued Vacation, Sick Leave, and Compensatory Time

Vacation, sick leave, compensatory time, and related benefits are accrued as determined by the
agreements between the City and the respective employees’ collective bargaining group. For
governmental funds, compensated absence obligations are recorded in the appropriate
governmental funds when due. The portion not currently due is recorded in the government-wide
financial statements. For proprietary funds, compensated absences are expensed when earned by
employees. At year-end, the accrued but unpaid compensated absence obligations are recorded as
current and non-current liabilities in the appropriate proprietary funds.

Vacation hours may be accumulated up to two times an employee’s annual accrual rate, which will
vary by years of service and bargaining unit, but it generally does not exceed a maximum of 400
hours for non-sworn employees and 360 hours for employees represented by the San José Police
Officer's Association (“SJPOA”). Employees represented by the International Association of
Firefighters, Local 230 (“IAFF”), may accumulate vacation hours up to 400 hours for employees on a
40-hour workweek and 576 hours for employees on a 56-hour workweek.

Employees in FCERS who retire with at least 15 years of service, or 20 years for police officers and
firefighters in PFDRP, may be eligible to receive, upon retirement, sick leave payouts based on
percentages of accumulated unused sick leave hours as determined by the respective collective
bargaining agreements for represented employees. Similar terms are applicable to eligible
unrepresented employees. Eligibility for sick leave payouts depends on the employee’s hire date.
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The tables below summarize the eligibility terms for sick leave payout and the terms governing the
amount of the payout.

Eligible for
Hire Date Sick Leave
Bargaining Unit (on or after) Payout?
Association of Building, Mechanical, ABMEI September 30, 2012 No
and Electrical Inspectors
Association of Engineers and AEA September 30, 2012 No
Architects, IFPTE Local 21
Association of Legal Professionals ALP September 30, 2012 No
Association of Maintenance Supervisory AMSP September 30, 2012 No
Personnel, IFPTE Local 21
City Association of Management CAMP September 30, 2012 No
Personnel, IFPTE Local 21
Confidential Employees’ Organization, CEO September 30, 2012 No
AFSCME Local 101
International Brotherhood of Electrical IBEW September 30, 2012 No
Workers, Local No. 332
International Union of Operating OE#3 September 30, 2012 No
Engineers, Local No. 3
Municipal Employees’ Federation, MEF September 30, 2012 No
AFSCME Local 101
San José Police Officers’ Association SJPOA July 7, 2013 No
San José Fire Fighters, IAFF Local 230 IAFF September 14, 2014 No
Unrepresented Employees Unit 99 September 30, 2012 No

Unit 81/82
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Bargaining Unit

Hire Date
(on or before)

Sick Leave
Balance'
Frozen as of:

Rate of
Pay?
Frozen as of:

Association of Building,
Mechanical, and Electrical
Inspectors

ABMEI

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

Association of Engineers and
Architects, IFPTE Local 21

AEA

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

Association of Legal
Professionals

ALP

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

Association of Maintenance
Supervisory Personnel,
IFPTE Local 21

AMSP

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

City Association of
Management Personnel,
IFPTE Local 21

CAMP

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

Confidential Employees’
Organization, AFSCME Local
101

CEO

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

International Brotherhood of
Electrical Workers, Local No.
332

IBEW

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

International Union of
Operating Engineers, Local
No. 3

OE#3

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

Municipal Employees’
Federation, AFSCME Local
101

MEF

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

San José Police Officers’
Association

SJPOA

July 6, 2013

July 6, 2013

July 6, 2013

San José Fire Fighters, IAFF
Local 230

IAFF

September 13, 2014

June 20, 2015

June 21, 2014

Unrepresented Employees

Unit 99
Unit 81/82

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

! For purposes of Sick Leave Payout. Employees will continue to accrue sick leave hours after the “Sick Leave
Balance Frozen as of” date, but such accrued sick leave may not be used for sick leave payout purposes. If an
employee reduces their sick leave balance below what it was as of the “Sick Leave Balance Frozen as of” date,
such employee will not be able to restore their sick leave balance for sick leave payout purposes.

2 For purposes of Sick Leave Payout. Employees may receive pay increases subsequent to the “Rate of Pay
Frozen as of” date, but the employee’s sick leave payout will be based on their rate of pay as of the “Rate of
Pay Frozen as of” date.
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Compensatory time is generally provided to employees who work overtime and earn compensatory
time off at the rate of one and one half the number of overtime hours worked in lieu of pay. The Fair
Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) provides that general employees may accrue up to 240 hours of
compensatory time, and employees responsible for law enforcement or fire suppression such as
those represented by SJPOA, IAFF, and in the Public Safety Communication Dispatcher
classifications may accrue up to 480 hours of compensatory time.

13. Interfund Transactions

Interfund transactions are reflected as loans, services provided, reimbursements and/or transfers.
Loans and balances related to unsettled service transactions are reported as receivables and
payables as appropriate, are subject to elimination upon consolidation of similar fund types. The
current portion of interfund loans and unsettled service transactions are reported as “due to/from
other funds” and the non-current portion is reported as “advances to/from other funds”. Any residual
balances outstanding between the governmental activities and the business-type activities are
reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances”.

Services provided are deemed to be at market or near market rates and are treated as revenues and
expenditures/expenses in the fund receiving revenue or being charged. Reimbursements are defined
as when one fund incurs a cost, charges the appropriate benefiting fund and reduces its related cost
as a reimbursement. All other interfund transactions are treated as transfers. Transfers between
governmental or proprietary funds are netted as part of the reconciliation to the government-wide
presentation.

14. Self-Insurance

The City is self-insured for workers’ compensation, general liability, auto liability, and certain other
risks, except as described in Note IlIl.F.12. The City’s workers’ compensation activities are funded
and accounted for separately in the fund financial statements based upon the activities of each fund.
The current portion of claims liability is accounted for in the General Fund and the enterprise funds
on the basis of settlements reached or judgments entered within the current fiscal year. In the
government-wide financial statements and the enterprise fund financial statements, the estimated
liability for all self-insurance liability claims is recorded as a liability.

15. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

Deferred resources related to pension expense, OPEB expense, and unamortized portions of the
gain and loss on refunding debt are reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources,
respectively. In addition to this, when an asset is recorded in governmental fund financial statements
but the revenue is not available, a deferred inflow of resources is reported until such time as the
revenue becomes available.

16. Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related
to pensions and pension expense, the fiduciary net position of the City’s defined benefit retirement
plans (PFDRP, FCERS, and the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (“CalPERS”)), and
additions to/deductions from the Retirement Systems’ and CalPERS’ fiduciary net positions have
been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the plans. For this purpose, benefit
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.
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17. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

For purpose of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to
OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the PFDRP and FCERS
OPEB plans and additions to/deductions from the OPEB Plan’s fiduciary net position have been
determined on the same basis as they are reported by the plans. For this purpose, benefit payments
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when currently due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

18. Net Position

The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements utilize a net position presentation.
Net position is categorized as net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted.

e Net Investment In Capital Assets — This category groups all capital assets, including
infrastructure, into one component of net position. Accumulated depreciation and the outstanding
balances of debt and deferred outflows/inflows of resources associated with the debt that are
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of these assets reduce the balance
in this category.

e Restricted Net Position — This category represents net position that has external restrictions
imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other governments and
restrictions imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. At June 30,
2018, the government-wide statement of net position reported restricted net position of
$1,000,459,000 in governmental activities and $72,750,000 in business-type activities. Of these
amounts $326,287,000 and $24,365,000, respectively are restricted by enabling legislation.

e Unrestricted Net Position — This category represents net amounts that do not meet the criteria
for “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets”. When both restricted and unrestricted
resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use restricted resources first, and then
use unrestricted resources as needed.

19. Fund Balances

Under GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions,
the financial statements reporting for governmental funds classify fund balances based primarily on
the extent to which the City is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which those
funds can be spent. Fund balance for the City’s governmental funds consists of the following
categories:

e Nonspendable Fund Balance — includes amounts that are not in a spendable form, such as
inventories, prepaid items, and long-term loans and notes receivables. It also includes amounts
that are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact or required to be retained in
perpetuity.

e Restricted Fund Balance — includes amounts reported as restricted when constraints placed on
the use of resources are either (1) externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt
covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) imposed
by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

e Committed Fund Balance — includes amounts that have been limited to specific purposes as
defined in the City Charter or through adoption of an ordinance by the City Council, the highest
level of decision making authority of the City. These commitments may be changed or lifted, but
only by the same formal action that was used to impose the constraint originally. City Council
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action to commit fund balance must occur within the fiscal reporting period while the amount
committed may be subsequently determined.

e Assigned Fund Balance — includes amounts that are intended to be used by the City for specific
purposes that are neither restricted nor committed through City Council budgetary action, which
include the approval of appropriations and revenue sources pertaining to the next fiscal year's
budget. On June 21, 2011, the City Council adopted a resolution establishing the City’s
Governmental Fund Balance Financial Reporting Policy, which states that assigned fund
balances are intended to be used for specific purposes through City Council budgetary actions.
Intent is expressed by (a) the City Council or (b) the City Manager to which the City Council has
delegated the authority to assign amounts to be used for specific purposes.

e Unassigned Fund Balance — includes amounts within the General Fund, the residual resources,
either positive or negative, in excess of what can be properly classified in one of the other four
fund balance categories. Unassigned amounts are technically available for any purpose. Other
governmental funds may only report a negative unassigned balance that was created after
classification in one of the other four fund balance categories.

In circumstances when an expenditure is made for a purpose for which amounts are available in
multiple fund balance categories, fund balance is depleted in the order of restricted, committed,
assigned, and unassigned.

20. Property Taxes

Property taxes are collected on behalf of and remitted to the City by the County of Santa Clara (the
County). The amount of property tax levied is restricted by Article 13A of the California State
Constitution (commonly referred to as Proposition 13). The County assesses property values, levies,
bills, and collects the related property taxes as follows:

Secured Unsecured
Valuation/lien dates January 1 January 1
Levy dates October 1 July 1

Due dates (delinquent after) 50% on November 1 (December 10)  July 1 (August 31)
50% on February 1 (April 10)

The City has elected to participate in the “Teeter Plan” offered by the County whereby cities receive
100% of secured property and supplemental p